GENE EXPRESSION AND EVOLUTION IN ESCHERICHIA COLI BIOFILM

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Priyankar Samanta

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Department: Veterinary and Microbiological Sciences

November 2014

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

GENE EXPRESSION AND EVOLUTION IN ESCHERICHIA COLI BIOFILM

Ву

Priyankar Samanta

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this *disquisition* complies with North

Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the

degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Birgit M. Pruess

Chair

Dr. Michael J. Christoffers

Dr. Penelope Gibbs

Dr. Margaret L. Khaitsa

Approved:

11-6-2014 Date Dr. Charlene Wolf-Hall

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Biofilms can be defined as a complex aggregation of bacterial communities that involves many gene regulatory mechanisms, as well as evolutionary processes to increase biodiversity. Specific Aim 1 used a gene regulation approach to identity novel targets for the development of biofilm prevention and treatment techniques. The goal was to determine genes that get expressed early in biofilm development (prevention targets) and genes that get expressed late and in the outer layer of the biofilm (treatment targets). Biofilm formation is regulated by numerous regulators, including the two-component osmoregulator system EnvZ/OmpR, the colanic acid activator *rcsCDB* and the global regulator FlhD/FlhC. In this study, we determined the temporal and spatial expression of *flhD*, *ompR* and *rcsB* in *E. coli* k-12 AJW678 biofilm, as well as the gene expression of *flhD* in isogenic *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants. Results indicated that *flhD* was expressed early, and in the outer layer of the mature biofilm. We concluded that FlhD/FlhC would be the first target for novel prevention and treatment technique.

One mechanism to increase biodiversity in biofilm is the insertion of transposon elements, which was investigated as Specific Aim 2. Insertion of IS elements into the *flhD* promoter resulted in increased motility in numerous *E. coli* K-12 strains has been shown in previous study. In this study, we recovered isolates from biofilm, where IS1 had inserted in the *flhD* promoter further downstream than in previously described strains. These isolates showed reduced motility. We also wanted to determine the effect of an IS element insertion on regulation of *flhD* expression by OmpR and RcsB in biofilm. Temporal and spatial gene expression of three different GFP-tagged *flhD* promoters was measured. The results indicated that IS5 insertion in the *flhD* promoter

iii

at the published hotspot did not have any effect on regulation of *flhD* expression by OmpR and RcsB in biofilm.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to acknowledge my major advisor and PI Dr. Birgit Prüß, for giving me an opportunity to work in her lab and being a constant source of guidance. Throughout every step of my study, she has mentored me whenever I needed. I would also like to thank Dr. Shelley Horne for her endless technical help during this research study. I would also like to thank Dr. Margaret Khaitsa, Dr. Penelope Gibbs, and Dr. Michael Christoffers for serving on my Ph.D. committee.

I would like to thank Dr. Alan J. Wolfe (Loyola University, Chicago) for providing strains for my experiments and Curt Doetkott (Department of Statistics, NDSU) for helping with statistical analyses. I would also like to thank all faculty members and staff for being there to help whenever I needed them. Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family for being supportive all the time.

Lastly, this project was funded by NIH grant (1R15Al089403).

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to:

My parents, Mr. S K Samanta and Mrs. S Samanta, for being supportive with all my decisions. My uncle, Mr. D D Nayak, for guiding me through my right career path. And my advisor, Dr. B Prüß, for being the best mentor.

PREFACE

The FlhD/FlhC complex is a flagellar and global regulator. It is also involved in regulating various cellular processes including cell division and metabolism in many bacterial systems. The expression of *flhD* can be regulated by various two-component signal transduction systems (2CSTSs), such as the colanic acid activator RcsCDB and the osmoregulator EnvZ/OmpR. FlhD/FlhC, RcsCDB and EnvZ/OmpR are part of a transcriptional network, which regulates all the biofilm-associated cell surface organelles. Furthermore, the expression level of *flhD* is also controlled by the insertion of IS elements into the *flhD* promoter.

The gene expression of *flhD*, *ompR* and *rcsB* has previously been studied in planktonic bacterial culture. As a first Specific Aim, we studied the temporal and the spatial gene expression of these three genes in biofilm. To identity novel targets for the development of biofilm prevention and treatment techniques, our long-term goal is to determine genes that get expressed early in biofilm development (prevention targets) and genes that get expressed late and in the outer layer of the biofilm (treatment targets). As a second Specific Aim, we investigated the effect of IS element insertion in the *flhD* promoter region on *flhD* gene regulation by OmpR and RcsB.

vii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
DEDICATION	vi
PREFACE	vii
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	. xiii
GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND SPECIFIC AIMS	1
Specific Aim 1: Study the temporal and spatial gene expression of <i>flhD, ompR,</i> and <i>rcsB</i>	1
Specific Aim 2: Study the effect of IS element insertion in the <i>flhD</i> promoter on the regulation network of <i>flhD, ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i>	1
Dissertation organization	2
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
Biofilm formation	3
Biofilm and bacterial infections [Lynnes, Prüß & Samanta, 2013]	4
Gene regulation in biofilm [Lynnes, Prüß & Samanta, 2013]	6
Effects of IS element insertion in the <i>flhD</i> promoter on gene expression	9
Reference List	. 11
PAPER 1: OMPR AND RCSB ABOLISH TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL CHANGES IN EXPRESSION OF <i>FLHD</i> IN <i>ESCHERICHIA COLI</i> BIOFILM	. 17
Abstract	. 17
Background	. 18
Results	. 21

Temporal gene expression of <i>flhD</i> , <i>ompR</i> , and <i>rcsB</i> in <i>E. coli</i> biofilm	. 21
Spatial gene expression of <i>flhD, ompR, and rcsB</i> in <i>E. coli</i> biofilm	. 24
Mutations in <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> reduced biofilm biomass	. 30
An increase in cell length accompanied the reduced biofilm thickness of the <i>ompR</i> mutant	. 31
Discussion	. 33
The expression profiles of <i>flhD, ompR</i> , and <i>rcsB</i> can be related to biofilm phases	. 33
Regulation of <i>flhD</i> by multiple response regulators offers an opportunity to control biofilm amounts and cell division	. 36
Conclusions and Outlook	. 38
Methods	. 39
Bacterial strains, plasmids, and growth conditions	. 39
Cloning of <i>flhD::gfp</i> (pPS71), pPS71 Cm ^R (pKK12) and <i>rcsB::gfp</i> (pEC2) plasmids	. 41
Temporal and spatial expression of <i>flhD</i> , <i>ompR</i> , and <i>rcsB</i>	. 43
Crystal violet assay to determine biofilm biomass	. 45
Acknowledgements	. 46
Reference List	. 46
Addendum 1; Detailed information about the cloning of plasmid pPS71	. 58
Cloning of pPS71	. 58
Sequencing alignment result of <i>flhD</i> promoter of pPS71	. 60
Addendum 2; response to reviewer's concerns	. 60
PAPER 2: IS ELEMENT INSERTION PLAYS AN IMPORTANT ROLE IN THE REGULATION OF <i>E. COLI FLHD</i> GENE EXPRESSION AND EVOLUTION OF THE BIOFILM	. 62

Abstract	. 62
Background	. 63
Results	. 67
Recovery of isolates from MC1000 biofilm	. 67
IS1 elements in the <i>flhD</i> operon were discovered in 27 of 62 non-motile isolates	. 67
Gene expression from <i>flhD1</i> was higher in <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutants than in the parent strain	. 74
Gene expression from <i>flhD4</i> was low in all tested strains	. 77
A double mutant in ompR and rcsB produced much reduced biofilm amounts	. 78
Discussion	. 80
Conclusions and Outlook	. 84
Methods	. 85
Bacterial strains	. 85
Biofilm formation and colony recovery	. 85
Determination of motility phenotypes	. 87
Complementation of the motility phenotype with pXL27	. 87
Determination of mutations within the <i>flhD</i> operon	. 87
Cloning of <i>flhD1::gfp</i> (pPS72), <i>flhD4::gfp</i> (pPS74), pPS72 Tc ^R (pPS75), pPS74 Tc ^R (pPS76) and pPS72 Cm ^R (pPS77) plasmids	. 90
Formation of biofilm in flow cells	. 91
Fluorescence microscopy	. 91
Determination of biofilm biomass by crystal violet assay	. 92
Acknowledgements	. 93
Reference List	. 93

1	Addendum 1	. 101
	Sequencing alignment result of the <i>flhD</i> promoter from pPS72	. 101
	Sequencing alignment result of the <i>flhD</i> promoter from pPS74	. 102
GE	ENERAL DISCUSSION	. 104
I	Reference List	. 108

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>		<u>Page</u>
1:	Biofilm associated infectious diseases caused by <i>E. coli</i>	5
2:	Bacterial strains and plasmids	40
3:	Summary of phenotypes for colonies that were recovered from biofilms of MC1000	68
4:	Bacterial Strains.	86
5:	List of primers	89

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>	2	Page
1:	Phases in biofilm formation and time course progression.	3
2:	Gene interaction of flagella regulator FlhD/FlhC and the 2CSTSs EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB	8
3:	Temporal and spatial gene expression of <i>flhD</i> , <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i>	9
4:	Fluorescent images of <i>flhD::gfp</i> , <i>ompR::gfp</i> , <i>rcsB::gfp</i> in AJW678 and <i>flhD</i> in BP1531 (ompR::Tn10) and BP1531 (<i>rcsB</i> ::Tn5).	22
5:	Temporal expression of <i>flhD, ompR, rcsB</i> in AJW678 and <i>flhD</i> in the <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutant strains	23
6:	Spatial gene expression of <i>flhD</i>	25
7:	Spatial gene expression of <i>ompR</i>	27
8:	Spatial gene expression of <i>rcsB</i>	28
9:	Spatial gene expression of <i>flhD</i> in the <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutant strains	29
10:	CV assay to quantify the biofilm amounts of the <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutants in comparison to the parent strain.	30
11:	Lengths of <i>E. coli</i> parental strain and <i>ompR</i> mutants	32
12:	Cloning of pPS71.	58
13:	Sequence alignment of the cloned flhD promoter of pPS71 and <i>flhD</i> promoter of AJW678.	59
14:	Statistical analysis of temporal expression of <i>flhD, ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> in AJW678 and <i>flhD</i> in the <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutant strains	60
15:	Temporal gene expression of <i>aceK</i>	61
16:	Spatial gene expression of <i>aceK</i> at 34 h	61
17:	PCR1 and PCR2.	70
18:	Sequence analysis of the flhD operons of MC1000, JS44, JS58, and JS90	71

19:	Outcome of PCR3.	. 73
20:	Fluorescence images of <i>flhD1::gfp</i> (left), and <i>flhD4::gfp</i> (right) in AJW678 and isogenic <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutants	. 75
21:	Temporal and spatial gene expression of <i>flhD1</i> in the parent strain and isogenic <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutant strains.	. 76
22:	Temporal gene expression of <i>flhD4</i> in the parent strain and isogenic <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i> mutant strains	. 78
23:	Biofilm amounts in single and double mutants of <i>ompR</i> and <i>rcsB</i>	. 79
24:	Sequence alignment of <i>flhD</i> promoter of pPS72 and <i>flhD</i> promoter of AJW678	101
25:	Sequence alignment of <i>flhD</i> promoter of pPS74 and <i>flhD</i> promoter of AJW678	102

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND SPECIFIC AIMS

Biofilms are highly abundant in nature; almost 90 percent of bacteria establish themselves in any environment by producing biofilms. Biofilms have a profound impact in many natural, clinical, and industrial settings. In order to produce a functioning biofilm, the bacteria have to synthesize a number of surface organelles (flagella, fimbria, curli) in the correct order and at the correct time. These surface organelles are regulated by the global regulator FlhD/FlhC and several two-component systems, including EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB. Understanding the temporal and spatial regulation of these genes will help us to understand how the biofilm forms, with the ultimate goal to influence it's formation by external signals. The following section outlines the logical sequence of the chapters presented in the thesis and the Specific Aims of the study.

<u>Specific Aim 1: Study the temporal and spatial gene expression of flhD, ompR,</u> and rcsB

This aim will address the working hypothesis that FlhD/FlhC could be used as a target for the development of novel biofilm treatment and prevention options. Two-component systems, EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB would serve as two mechanisms to control the target. Specific Aim 1 is addressed in the **first chapter** of the dissertation.

<u>Specific Aim 2: Study the effect of IS element insertion in the flhD promoter on</u> the regulation network of flhD, ompR and rcsB

This Specific Aim addresses the working hypothesis that the high motility in *E. coli* strains that carry an IS element in the -99 to -96 region (or further upstream) of the

flhD promoter might be due to a relieving of transcriptional repression by OmpR and RcsB. Specific Aim 2 is addressed in the **second chapter** of the dissertation.

Dissertation organization

The thesis has been organized to provide a comprehensive understanding regarding the gene regulation network of *flhD, ompR and rcsB,* as well as the impact that IS element insertion has on this regulation.

- The Literature review comprises of one published review article and additional relevant information. Paragraphs that are taken from the published article are indicated [Lynnes, Prüß & Samanta, 2013].
- The subsequent chapters constitute one published [Samanta, Clark, Knutson, Horne & Prüß, 2013] and one submitted [Samanta, Sayler, Horne & Prüß, 2014] manuscript and effectively cover the experimental procedures and related outcomes that constitute Specific Aims I and II, respectively. Each chapter contains the submitted version of the paper. For chapter 1, an addendum 1 gives details of the methods that were not covered in the paper, and an addendum 2 addresses some of the reviewer's concerns. For chapter 1, addendum 1 provides the sequence alignments for some of the *flhD* promoters.
- The Discussion at the end of the dissertation is a general discussion that aims at providing a general view of the future perspective and outlook.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Biofilm formation

Bacterial biofilms are defined as sessile communities of bacteria that form on airliquid or liquid-solid interfaces. Bacteria are embedded in an extrapolymeric matrix that they produce and are characterized by various phenotypes that differ from planktonic bacteria. The formation of biofilm is a very complex developmental process (Figure 1) that requires a number of different cell surface organelles, some of which actively contribute to the disease progression. Any one of these organelles is characteristic of a distinct phase of biofilm development (for a review on the phases of biofilm formation, please see Sauer et al., 2002).



Figure 1: Phases in biofilm formation and time course progression.

Phase I constitutes the reversible attachment phase that is mediated by flagella when planktonic bacteria loosely attach to a surface. Phase II is the irreversible attachment when bacteria stick to the surface by fimbriae, pili, or curli. Phase III constitutes the maturation phase which is characterized by an extracellular polysaccharide (EPS) layer that the bacteria themselves produce. This EPS layer gives the bacterial community the shape and a strong adherence power to attach to the surface and to each other. This layer also protects the bacterial community from external challenges such as antibiotics or the human immune system. Phase IV is the dispersal phase. At this phase newly divided bacteria leave the biofilm and bacteria will again require the synthesis of flagella, as bacteria will leave the microcolony. In cases of infectious disease, these dispersed bacteria can spread the infection and can serve as a constant reservoir of bacteria that keep feeding the infection. Altogether, the timely coordinated synthesis of all these organelles requires tight control over the expression of the genes that encode the respective components.

Biofilm and bacterial infections [Lynnes, Prüß & Samanta, 2013]

The Centers for Disease Control and prevention (CDC) and National Institutes of Health (NIH) estimate that 60% to 80% of all human bacterial infections involve biofilm. Many of the infectious diseases that *E. coli* is associated with and that are typically attributed to specific pathotypes of *E. coli* are worsened by the formation of biofilm. Table 1 summarizes examples of these pathotypes and the biofilm-associated diseases that they can cause. UPEC stands for <u>U</u>ropathogenic <u>E. coli</u>, a pathotype that causes infections of the urinary tract, often acquired in a hospital in connection with long-term catheterization. The adherence of UPEC to the host cells is mediated by short adhesive fibers, such as curli (Wu et al., 2012) and type I fimbriae (Mulvey et al., 1998). Intriguingly, UPEC can even form intracellular biofilm-like structures in the host cell

cytosol which increase the persistence of the chronic illness (Goller and Seed, 2010; Anderson et al., 2003). EaggEC are Enteroaggregative <u>E</u>. *coli* that are adhering particularly tightly to one another, in part by means of AafA fimbriae which have been targeted by nitazoxanide to inhibit biofilm formation and hemagglutinin production (Shamir et al., 2010). STEC is a classification that combines all <u>E</u>. *coli* that are capable of Shiga Toxin production. Typically, the STEC genome includes the LEE pathogenicity island (Locus of Enterocyte Effacement). An interesting STEC variant are LEE-negative *E. coli* that can cause hemolytic uremic syndrome by means of the Sab autotransporter which contributes to biofilm formation and adherence (Herold, Paton, and Paton, 2009). As a final example, a number of interesting variants of *E. coli* have recently been identified in periprosthetic joint infection. These were all deficient in typical characteristics of *E. coli*, such as the production of β-galactosidase, flagella, indole, and the resistance towards aminoglycosides (Sendi et al., 2010).

<i>E. coli</i> pathotype	Disease	Major virulence factors	Reference
Uropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (UPEC)	Urinary tract infections	Curli, type I fimbriae, K- capsule	(Wu et al., 2012; Goller and Seed, 2010; Mulvey et al., 1998)
Enteroaggregative <i>E. coli</i> (EaggEC)	Persistent diarrhea, malnutrition	Fimbrial adhesins	(Shamir et al., 2010)
LEE-negative shiga toxin producing <i>E. coli</i> (STEC) O113:H21	Hemolytic uremic syndrome	Sab autotransporter	(Herold, Paton, and Paton, 2009)
Variants of <i>E. coli</i> that are ß-gal negative, non- motile, and aminoglycoside resistant	Prosthetic joint infection		(Sendi et al., 2010)

Table 1: Biofilm associated infectious diseases caused by E. coli.

Gene regulation in biofilm [Lynnes, Prüß & Samanta, 2013]

Two-component signal transduction systems permit bacteria to respond to the signals from the environment (for reviews on two-component signaling, please see Galperin, 2004; Kenney, 2002; Parkinson, 1993; West and Stock, 2001). The two components that form these systems are a sensor kinase and a response regulator. The environmental signal is translated into a phosphotransfer reaction from the sensor kinase to the response regulator, and the phosphorylation status of the response regulator determines its transcriptional activity. In the Gram-negative *E. coli*, a total of thirty-seven 2CSTS control many metabolic phenotypes in response to a diversity of signals from the environment (Zhou et al., 2003). Pathogenic strains of *E. coli*, which often have up to 1,000 genes in excess of non-pathogenic *E. coli* harbor additional 2CSTS that regulate their virulence genes (Tobe, 2008). Altogether, 2CSTS suitable for the development of novel prevention and treatment techniques for biofilm-associated infectious diseases in humans, animals, and plants.

A 2CSTS that was investigated early and contributed to defining this system as a new paradigm of gene regulation is the EnvZ/OmpR system. This 2CSTS regulates the relative expression of the outer membrane porins OmpF and OmpC in response to changes in osmolarity (Igo, Slauch, and Silhavy, 1990). We used this system to explain the concept of 2CSTS. EnvZ constitutes the histidine kinase (Forst et al., 1987), which is membrane bound and acts as the osmolarity sensor. In response to increases in osmolarity, autophosphorylation occurs at a conserved histidine within the transmitter domain of EnvZ. The OmpR response regulator (Hall and Silhavy, 1981) receives the phosphate from EnvZ at a conserved aspartate within its N-terminal receiver domain, causing a conformational change at the C-terminus. Through differential affinities to the OmpR-P binding sites on the *ompF* and *ompC* promoters, low levels of phosphorylated OmpR favor the expression of *ompF*, whereas high levels of phospho-OmpR favor *ompC* expression. As one example of a slightly different type of 2CSTS, the more complex colanic activator RcsCDB consists of three proteins (Gottesman, Trisler, and Torres-Cabassa, 1985) and has two each of the receiver and transmitter domains.

2CSTS systems that affect biofilm formation include the colanic acid activator system RcsCDB (Gottesman, Trisler, and Torres-Cabassa, 1985) and the osmoregulation system EnvZ/OmpR (Prigent-Combaret et al., 2001). In a previous review article (Prüß et al., 2006), our lab summarized a partial network of transcriptional regulation that affected all the biofilm-associated cell surface organelles and contained 16 regulators and several hundreds of regulated genes. FlhD/FlhC was the center of this gene regulation network. FlhD/FlhC was initially described as the flagellar master regulator (Bartlett, Frantz, and Matsumura, 1988) and later recognized as a global regulator of *E. coli* (Prüß et al., 2001;Prüß et al., 2003). In a later study (Denton et al., 2008) we summarized that certain two-component systems such as EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB hava an impact on biofilm formation by responding the environmental stress to downstream regulators, such as FlhD/FlhC. The gene intoructions of the flagella regulator FlhD/FlhC, EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB, which are critical to the production of biofilm-associated cell surface organelles (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Gene interaction of flagella regulator FIhD/FIhC and the 2CSTSs EnvZ/OmpR and RcsCDB.

In Specific Aim I, we investigated the temporal and spatial expression of *flhD*, *ompR*, and *rcsB* using flow cell and fluorescence microscopy. The hypothesis for the temporal gene expression study (see Figure 3) is that the expression of FlhD/FlhC will be highest at the very early phase (reversible attachment) of biofilm formation, as well as the very late phase (dispersal phase). Being a positive regulator of curli, we expected the expression of OmpR to be highest at the irreversible attachment stage. RcsB-P activates the production of colanic acid, one of the capsule molecules whose synthesis is expected highest at maturation. The hypothesis of the spatial gene expression study is that the surface of the colony where the bacteria disperse (Jackson et al., 2002). OmpR-P affects fimbriae and curli and could be highest at the bottom of the colony, where the colony attaches to the surface.



Figure 3: Temporal and spatial gene expression of *flhD*, *ompR* and *rcsB*.

As a translational aspect of the work, we propose that genes expressed early in biofilm development can be used as prevention targets and that genes expressed late and in the outer layer of the biofilm could be used as treatment targets for biofilm-related diseases. Our hypothesis was that FlhD/FlhC would be the first target for both the development of novel prevention and treatment techniques and that RcsB and OmpR would be two mechanisms to control this target gene.

Effects of IS element insertion in the flhD promoter on gene expression

The formation of biofilm involves a vast amount of gene regulation, while also promotes the evolution of biodiversity (Boles and Singh, 2008; Boles and Singh, 2008). In addition to gene expression, evolution of biodiversity was studied extensively in *E. coli* biofilms. Using a stochastic population model, it was shown that during the formation of biofilm *E. coli* undergoes dramatic diversification (Ponciano et al., 2009). This behavior of bacteria is also described as the GASP phenotype (growth <u>a</u>dvantage in <u>s</u>tationary <u>p</u>hase) of planktonic bacteria (Kraigsley and Finkel, 2009). A previous study shows that *E. coli* harvested from 22-day-old biofilm exhibited a competitive

advantage over bacteria that were isolated from a younger biofilm. As a conclusion, it was postulated that there may be evolutionary pressure for bacteria to disperse from late stage biofilms (McDougald et al., 2012).

One mechanism that enables bacteria to adapt to diverse ecological niches is the insertion of IS elements (Gaffe et al., 2011). A previous study showed that IS5 insertion into the *flhD* promoter of a poorly motile *E. coli* K-12 strain, BW25311, increased both motility and the bacteria's ability to form biofilm (Wang and Wood, 2011). The IS5 inserted into a 4-bp target site (5'-TTAA-3') at 96–99 bp upstream of the transcription start of *flhD*. This IS5 insertion also caused a 2.7-fold increase in the expression of *flhD* and a 7-fold increase in the swarm rate of the non-motile *E. coli* K-12 strain MG1655 Fnr- (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). Another study (Lee and Park, 2013) showed that insertion of IS5 at -315 bp or -166 bp and IS1 at -303 bp upstream of the transcription.

Specific Aim II of this study is to address whether it is possible to obtain IS element insertions in the *flhD* promoter that will reduce motility under conditions where motility is a disadvantage. From a previous studies we determined that flagella regulator *flhD* plays an important role in biofilm formation (Samanta et al., 2013). Gaffe at al demonstrated that one evolutionary mechanism that enables bacteria to adapt to diverse ecological niches is the insertion of IS elements (Gaffe et al., 2011). Therefore, the insertion of an IS elements in the *flhD* promoter is an evolutionary event, but then it has an effect on gene regulation of *flhD*, which could directly affect biofilm formation. So, we had two hypotheses in this part of the study. We hypothesized that i) biofilm contains niches where motility would be a disadvantage and ii) insertion of an IS

element will increase *flhD* expression and motility by relieving the effects of some negative regulators like *ompR* and *rcsB*.

Reference List

1. Anderson, G. G., Palermo, J. J., Schilling, J. D., Roth, R., Heuser, J., and Hultgren, S. J., 2003, Intracellular bacterial biofilm-like pods in urinary tract infections: Science, v. 301, p. 105-107.

2. Barker, C. S., Prüß, B. M., and Matsumura, P., 2004, Increased motility of *Escherichia coli* by insertion sequence element integration into the regulatory region of the *flhD* operon: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 186, p. 7529-7537.

3. Bartlett, D. H., Frantz, B. B., and Matsumura, P., 1988, Flagellar transcriptional activators FlbB and FlaI: gene sequences and 5' consensus sequences of operons under FlbB and FlaI control: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 170, p. 1575-1581.

4. Boles, B. R. and Singh, P. K., 2008, Endogenous oxidative stress produces diversity and adaptability in biofilm communities: Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A, v. 105, p. 12503-12508.

5. Denton, A. M., Wu, J., Townsend, M. K., Sule, P., and Prüß, B. M., 2008, Relating gene expression data on two-component systems to functional annotations in *Escherichia coli*: BMC Bioinformatics, v. 9, p. 294.

6. Forst, S., Comeau, S., Norioka, S., and Inouye, M., 1987, Localization and membrane topology of EnvZ, a protein involved in osmoregulation of OmpF and OmpC in *Escherichia coli*: Journal of Biological Chemistry, v. 262, p. 16433-16438.

7. Gaffe, J., McKenzie, C., Maharjan, R. P., Coursange, E., Ferenci, T., and Schneider, D., 2011, Insertion sequence-driven evolution of *Escherichia coli* in chemostats: J.Mol Evol., v. 72, p. 398-412.

8. Galperin, M. Y., 2004, Bacterial signal transduction network in a genomic perspective: Environ.Microbiol., v. 6, p. 552-567.

9. Goller, C. C. and Seed, P. C., 2010, Revisiting the *Escherichia coli* polysaccharide capsule as a virulence factor during urinary tract infection: contribution to intracellular biofilm development: Virulence, v. 1, p. 333-337.

10. Gottesman, S., Trisler, P., and Torres-Cabassa, A., 1985, Regulation of capsular polysaccharide synthesis in *Escherichia coli* K-12: characterization of three regulatory genes: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 162, p. 1111-1119.

11. Hall, M. N. and Silhavy, T. J., 1981, Genetic analysis of the *ompB* locus in *Escherichia coli* K-12: J.Mol.Biol., v. 151, p. 1-15.

12. Herold, S., Paton, J. C., and Paton, A. W., 2009, Sab, a novel autotransporter of locus of enterocyte effacement-negative shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* O113:H21, contributes to adherence and biofilm formation: Inf.Immun., v. 77, p. 3234-3243.

13. Igo, M. M., Slauch, J. M., and Silhavy, T. J., 1990, Signal transduction in bacteria: kinases that control gene expression: New Biol., v. 2, p. 5-9.

14. Jackson, D. W., Suzuki, K., Oakford, L., Simecka, J. W., Hart, M. E., and Romeo, T., 2002, Biofilm formation and dispersal under the influence of the global regulator CsrA of *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 184, p. 290-301.

15. Kenney, L. J., 2002, Structure/function relationships in OmpR and other winged-helix transcription factors: Curr.Opin.Microbiol., v. 5, p. 135-141.

16. Kraigsley, A. M. and Finkel, S. E., 2009, Adaptive evolution in single species bacterial biofilms: FEMS Microbiol.Lett., v. 293, p. 135-140.

17. Lee, C. and Park, C., 2013, Mutations upregulating the *flhDC* operon of *Escherichia coli* K-12: J. Microbiol., v. 51, p. 140-144.

18. Lynnes, T., Prüß, B. M., and Samanta, P., 2013, Acetate metabolism and *Escherichia coli* biofilm: new approaches to an old problem: FEMS Microbiol Lett, v. 344, p. 95-103.

19. McDougald, D., Rice, S. A., Barraud, N., Steinberg, P. D., and Kjelleberg, S., 2012, Should we stay or should we go: mechanisms and ecological consequences for biofilm dispersal: Nat. Rev. Microbiol., v. 10, p. 39-50.

20. Mulvey, M. A., Lopez-Boado, Y. S., Wilson, C. L., Roth, R., Parks, W. C., Heuser, J., and Hultgren, S. J., 1998, Induction and evasion of host defenses by type 1-piliated uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: Science, v. 282, p. 1494-1497.

21. Parkinson, J. S., 1993, Signal transduction schemes of bacteria: Cell, v. 73, p. 857-871.

22. Ponciano, J. M., La, H. J., Joyce, P., and Forney, L. J., 2009, Evolution of diversity in spatially structured *Escherichia coli* populations: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 75, p. 6047-6054.

23. Prigent-Combaret, C., Brombacher, E., Vidal, O., Ambert, A., Lejeune, P., Landini, P., and Dorel, C., 2001, Complex regulatory network controls initial adhesion and biofilm formation in *Escherichia coli* via regulation of the *csgD* gene: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 183, p. 7213-7223.

24. Prüß, B. M., Besemann, C., Denton, A., and Wolfe, A. J., 2006, A complex transcription network controls the early stages of biofilm development by *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 188, p. 3731-3739.

25. Prüß, B. M., Campbell, J. W., Van Dyk, T. K., Zhu, C., Kogan, Y., and Matsumura, P., 2003, FlhD/FlhC is a regulator of anaerobic respiration and the Entner-Doudoroff pathway through induction of the methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein Aer: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 534-543.

26. Prüß, B. M., Liu, X., Hendrickson, W., and Matsumura, P., 2001, FlhD/FlhC-regulated promoters analyzed by gene array and *lacZ* gene fusions: FEMS Microbiol. Lett., v. 197, p. 91-97.

27. Samanta, P., Clark, E. R., Knutson, K., Horne, S. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2013, OmpR and RcsB abolish temporal and spatial changes in expression of *flhD in Escherichia coli* Biofilm: BMC Microbiology, v. 13, p. 182.

28. Sauer, K., Camper, A. K., Ehrlich, G. D., Costerton, J. W., and Davies, D. G., 2002, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* displays multiple phenotypes during development as a biofilm: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 184, p. 1140-1154.

29. Sendi, P., Frei, R., Maurer, T. B., Trampuz, A., Zimmerli, W., and Graber, P., 2010, *Escherichia coli* variants in periprosthetic joint infection: diagnostic challenges with sessile bacteria and sonication: J. Clin. Microbiol., v. 48, p. 1720-1725.

30. Shamir, E. R., warthan, M., Brown, S. P., Nataro, J. P., Guerrant, R. L., and Hoffman, P. S., 2010, Nitazoxanide inhibits biofilm production and hemagglutination by enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strains by blocking assembly of AafA fimbriae: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, v. 54, p. 1526-1533.

31. Tobe, T., 2008, The roles of two-component systems in virulence of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella* spp.: Adv. Exp. Med.Biol., v. 631, p. 189-199.

32. Wang, X. and Wood, T. K., 2011, IS5 inserts upstream of the master motility operon *flhDC* in a quasi-Lamarckian way: ISME. J., v. 5, p. 1517-1525.

33. West, A. H. and Stock, A. M., 2001, Histidine kinases and response regulator proteins in two-component signaling systems: Trends Biochem. Sci., v. 26, p. 369-376.

34. Wu, C., Lim, J. Y., Fuller, G. G., and Cegelski, L., 2012, Quantitative analysis of amyloid-integrative biofilms formed by uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* at the air-liquid interface: Biophys. J., v. 103, p. 464-471.

35. Zhou, L., Lei, X. H., Bochner, B. R., and Wanner, B. L., 2003, Phenotype microarray analysis of *Escherichia coli* K-12 mutants with deletions of all two-component systems: Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 4956-4972.

PAPER 1: OMPR AND RCSB ABOLISH TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL CHANGES IN EXPRESSION OF *FLHD* IN *ESCHERICHIA COLI* BIOFILM¹

<u>Abstract</u>

Biofilms are communities of bacteria that are characterized by specific phenotypes, including an increased resistance towards anti-microbials and the host immune system. This calls for the development of novel biofilm prevention and treatment options to combat infectious disease. In *Escherichia coli*, numerous global regulators have been implicated in the control of biofilm-associated cell surface organelles. These include the flagellar regulator FlhD/FlhC, the osmoregulator EnvZ/OmpR, and the colanic acid activator RcsCDB. Using flow cell technology and fluorescence microscopy, we determined the temporal expression from *flhD::gfp*, *ompR::gfp*, and *rcsB::gfp* in *E. coli* biofilm. Additionally, the impact of the negative regulation of *flhD* by OmpR and RcsB. Spatial gene expression was investigated from *flhD::gfp*.

¹ **Priyankar Samanta,** Emily R. Clark, Katie Knutson, Shelley M. Horne, and Birgit M. Prüß. 2013. BMC Microbiol. 13:182

Most of the work, including the writing of the first draft of the manuscript, was done by Priyankar Samanta. Emily Clark and Katie Knutson each cloned one of the plasmids. Below is the first draft that was written by Priyankar Samanta and submitted for publication. Detailed information about the cloning of plasmid pP71 is presented as addendum 1. Comments by the reviewers are addressed in addendum 2 to this chapter.

The temporal gene expression profile for *flhD* yielded an early peak at 12 h, a minimum of expression at 35 h, and a second increase in expression towards 51 h of biofilm development. This was the inverse of the *ompR* profile which showed a peak at 35 h. Consistent with this, a mutation in *ompR* abolished time dependence of *flhD* expression after the initial time period of 12 h. Intriguingly, *rcsB* expression did not correlate inversely with *flhD* expression, yet a mutation in *rcsB* abolished time dependence of *flhD* was highest in the outermost layer of the biofilm in the parent strain. In *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants, *flhD* was expressed throughout the biofilm. Additionally, biofilms by mutants in *ompR* and *rcsB* contained less biomass and *ompR* mutant bacteria were longer than parental bacteria.

We believe that FlhD/FlhC may be our first target for the development of novel biofilm prevention (early expression) and treatment (expression in the outermost layer of late biofilm) techniques. Negative regulation of *flhD* expression by numerous response regulators offers ample opportunity at controlling biofilm amounts through FlhD/FlhC.

Background

Bacterial biofilms are defined as sessile communities of bacteria that form on airliquid or liquid-solid interfaces, or even intracellularly (Goller and Seed, 2010). Due to their high resistance to any attempts of removing them, biofilms have a profound impact in many clinical settings, including catheter-associated urinary tract infections (Saint and Chenoweth, 2003), periodontitis (Schaudinn et al., 2009), and otitis (Hoa et al., 2009), as well as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections of cystic fibrosis patients (Bjarnsholt et al., 2009). Much research has been done on disease mechanisms relating to the biofilm lifestyle. Yet, many of the early studies do not consider that growth conditions for the bacteria differ across the biofilm and also change with time. As one example, bacteria residing within fully matured biofilm have limited access to nutrients and oxygen, but are also well protected from anti-microbials, as well as the host immune system. In contrast, bacteria that grow at the surface of the three-dimensional structure or are still in the early phases of biofilm formation would have better access to nutrients and oxygen, but are also more exposed to anti-microbials. Some temporal studies of gene expression in biofilms were done years ago (Domka et al., 2007). Spatial studies have been done more recently. These were facilitated by advances in microscopy techniques, as well as the development of fluorescent probes (Klausen et al., 2003; Pamp, Sternberg, and Tolker-Nielsen, 2009; Villena et al., 2010).

Fusions of gene promoters to the structural genes of fluorescence proteins were used to study heterogeneity in biofilms of multiple bacterial species. This was done to measure: i) spatial gene regulation in biofilm of *Bacillus subtilis* (McLoon et al., 2011), ii) real-time spatial gene expression in *Geobacter sulfurreducens* electricity-producing biofilm (Franks, Glaven, and Lovley, 2012), iii) quantitative gene expression in biofilm of *Salmonella* (Grantcharova et al., 2010), iv) single-cell gene expression in *B. subtilis* biofilm (Garcia-Betancur et al., 2012), and v) the effect of inhibitors on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm (Jakobsen et al., 2011). To reduce complexity and facilitate genetics experiments, flow cell technology was developed to grow the biofilm (Branda et al., 2005; Pamp, Sternberg, and Tolker-Nielsen, 2009). This technology allows the biofilm to form under continuous hydrodynamic conditions at a controlled and reproducible flow rate. In this study, we used promoter fusions to green fluorescence protein (GFP), flow

cell biofilms, and fluorescence microscopy to measure temporal and spatial expression of selected biofilm-associated genes in *Escherichia coli* biofilms.

The genetic system used for the present study consists of the flagellar (Bartlett, Frantz, and Matsumura, 1988) and global regulator (Prüß, Markovic, and Matsumura, 1997; Prüß et al., 2001; Prüß et al., 2003) complex FlhD₄/FlhC₂ (Wang et al., 2006) and the two-component systems for osmoregulation EnvZ/OmpR (Mizuno et al., 1988) and colanic acid activation RcsCDB (Gottesman, Trisler, and Torres-Cabassa, 1985). These three regulatory systems are part of a partial transcriptional network that was summarized several years ago (Prüß et al., 2006), centered around FlhD/FlhC, and regulated all the biofilm-associated cell surface organelles. In particular, OmpR and RcsB in their phosphorylated form are inhibitors of *flhD* expression (Shin and Park, 1995). RcsB is also a regulator of type I fimbriae (Schwan et al., 2007), both OmpR and RcsB control expression of many other genes (Hagiwara et al., 2003; Oshima et al., 2002). In planktonic E. coli, growth-phase-dependent expression of flhD required OmpR. Additionally, *flhD* expression in the *ompR* mutant was much higher (Prüß, 1998). This was also true for *flhD* expression and swarming of Xenorhabdus nematophila (Kim et al., 2003).

With this study, we wanted to accomplished three goals: i) provide proof of concept that the study of temporal and spatial expression of biofilm-associated genes can lead to the identification of novel targets for the development of biofilm prevention (gene is expressed early in biofilm development) and treatment (gene is expressed late and at the edge of the biofilm) techniques; ii) attempt to identify FlhD/FlhC as the first of such targets, because it is a transmitter between numerous environmental conditions

and many cellular responses, and iii) establish OmpR and RcsB as part of a control mechanism that increases *flhD* expression and reduces biofilm amounts. The distinction of early and late biofilm genes enabled us to identify marker genes for the different phases of biofilm development. Finally, an unintentional observation of increased cell length in the *ompR* mutant connected back to previous studies on the effect of FlhD and/or FlhC on the cell division rate (Prüß and Matsumura, 1996; Prüß, Markovic, and Matsumura, 1997; Prüß, 1998; Sule et al., 2011).

<u>Results</u>

Temporal gene expression of *flhD*, *ompR*, and *rcsB* in *E. coli* biofilm

Expression of flhD peaked at 12 h and increased towards 51 h of biofilm formation

Fluorescence microscopy images were produced from flow-cell-grown biofilm of the parent strain AJW678 that contained the *flhD::gfp* fusion plasmid, called pPS71. Fluorescence signals obtained from these biofilms were highest at 12 h, lowest at 35 h, and then increased again towards 51 h of biofilm formation. This was seen in all four time series of images that had been taken from four independently formed biofilms (Figure 4). Occasionally, we observed high signals in individual bacteria of the 3 h sample, but the number of bacteria on the slides was not indicative of a biofilm at that point in time. The time plot of expression that was obtained from total pixel numbers of the images with Image Pro software showed a peak at 12 h with 17,500 pixels (Figure 5). Total pixels were lowest at 35 h and increased again towards 51 h. We also noticed a small single point peak at 3 h, which is in agreement with the occasional high fluorescence of small numbers of bacteria that was visualized on the images (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Fluorescent images of *flhD::gfp, ompR::gfp, rcsB::gfp* in AJW678 and *flhD* in BP1531 (*ompR::Tn10*) and BP1531 (*rcsB::Tn5*).

Biofilms of BP1470, BP1432, BP1462, BP1531, and BP1532 were grown in flow cells and subjected to fluorescence microscopy. Four time points were selected for each strain, these are printed on top of the respective images. Promoter names are printed at the very top of each column. Images were taken at 1,000-fold magnification.


Figure 5: Temporal expression of *flhD*, *ompR*, *rcsB* in AJW678 and *flhD* in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains.

Total pixel numbers were calculated from the images, along with averages and standard deviations. The x-axis indicates the time (hours) of biofilm formation. The y-axis indicates the total fluorescence intensity of the different strains at different time points, measured by Image-Pro Plus software. The dark red, black, and blue lines are showing the gene expression profile of BP1470 (AJW678 *flhD::gfp*), BP1432 (AJW678 *ompR::gfp*), and BP1462 (AJW678 *rcsB::gfp*), respectively. The red line is the temporal expression profile of BP1531 (*flhD::gfp ompR::Tn10*), and the orange line that of BP1532 (*flhD::gfp rcsB::Tn5*).

The temporal expression of *ompR*, but not *rcsB*, correlated inversely with that of *flhD*

Expression of the negative regulator of *flhD* expression, OmpR, exhibited a temporal profile that was almost the inverse of *flhD* expression (Figure 4, second column from the left and Figure 5, black line, blue circles). Pixel values were below 10,000 for the first 20 h of biofilm formation and really only started to increase after 20

h. At 35 h, the total pixel values peaked around 35,000 pixels. Expression of another negative regulator of *flhD* expression, RcsB, did not correlate with the temporal expression profile for *flhD* (Figure 4, center column and Figure 5, blue line, blue diamonds). Initially, the fluorescence signal from the *rcsB*::*gfp* plasmid-containing strain was very weak, but increased steadily after this point in time to 14,000 pixels at 58 h.

Mutations in *ompR* and *rcsB* abolished temporal differences in *flhD* expression

The fluorescence signals from *flhD*::*gfp* in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains were significantly higher than those from the other strains. Note that the images shown in Fig. 4 and the temporal expression profiles were taken at 10% of the available excitation light, as opposed to 90% for the previous strains. Even at this low level of excitation, signals from *flhD*::*gfp* in the mutant strains were higher than in the isogenic parent strain. Expression of *flhD* in the *ompR* mutant increased over the first 12 h and reached a steady state level after that (Fig. 5, red line, blue squares). Expression of *flhD* in the *rcsB* mutant increased more slowly than in the *ompR* mutant, but was reasonably growth-phase independent after 20 h as well (Fig. 5, orange line, blue triangles).

Spatial gene expression of flhD, ompR, and rcsB in E. coli biofilm

Expression of *flhD* is highest at the top layer of the biofilm

From the temporal gene expression experiment, we knew that the highest expression of *flhD* was at 12 h and 51 h of biofilm formation. As a consequence, we performed the spatial gene expression experiment for *flhD* at those two time points (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Spatial gene expression of *flhD*.

A and B are the 3D images constructed from the z-stacking images (bright field and fluorescence) at 12 hours (A) and 51 hours (B), using BP1470 (AJW678 pPS71). C is the graphical representation of the spatial gene expression of *flhD* at 12 hours (dashed line) and 51 hours (solid line) of biofilm formation.

In both the 12 and 51 h biofilms, the expression of *flhD* was highest at the outer layer of the biofilms (Fig. 6). Total pixel values from the individual images of the *z*-stacks showed that at 12 h, there was little or no expression of *flhD* within the first 2 μ m from the surface that the biofilm had formed on. Expression increased rapidly at 2 μ m to approximately 20,000 pixels. In 51 h biofilms, there were three distinct intensity levels.

Until 3 μ m, the expression of *flhD* was very low; but at 3.5 μ m, the expression jumped to 20,000 pixels and maintained this level until 6 μ m; and across the upper 2 μ m of our biofilm, *flhD* expression increased to approximately 30,000 pixels.

Expression of *ompR* is highest at the bottom of the biofilm

Spatial gene expression experiment for *ompR* at 34 h is the time point of maximum expression in the temporal experiment (Figure 7). Fluorescence signals from BP1432 were highest at the very bottom layer of the biofilm and could only be visualized in the bottom-to-top version of the 3D image (Figure 7A and Figure 7B). Total pixel values were highest at approximately 28,000 at the very bottom layer and decreased steadily towards the top (Figure 7C). Intriguingly, expression of *ompR* was inversely correlated to the distance from the surface that the biofilm had grown on.

Spatial expression of *rcsB* depends on the biofilm phase

From the temporal gene expression study, the expression of *rcsB* increased over time, starting at 25 h. We selected 33 h and 62 h as time points for the spatial study. The 3D reconstruction of the biofilm revealed that expression of *rcsB* was limited to the top of the biofilm at 33 h (Figure 8A) and to the bottom at 62 h (Figure 8B and 8C). At 33 h, total pixel values increased in several steps from the bottom of the biofilm to the top until they reached approximately 24,000 pixels (Figure 8D). At 62 h, total pixel values were highest at approximately 28,000 at the very bottom and decreased steadily across the 8 µm towards the top (Figure 8D).



Figure 7: Spatial gene expression of *ompR*.

A and B are the 3D images constructed from the z-stacking images (bright field and fluorescence) from bottom view (A) and top view (B). C is the graphical representation of the spatial gene expression of *ompR* at 34 h of biofilm formation.



Figure 8: Spatial gene expression of rcsB.

A, B and C are 3D images constructed from z-stacking images of the 33 h biofilm top view (A), and 62 h biofilm bottom (B) and top views (C). D is the graphical representation of the spatial gene expression of rcsB at 33 h (dark blue) and 62 h (light blue) of biofilm formation.

Expression of flhD in the ompR and rcsB mutant strains is high across the entire biofilm

The temporal gene expression study determined that the expression of *flhD* in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains was constitutively high throughout the experiment after a primary increase during the initial time period of biofilm formation. As time points for the spatial experiment, we selected 33 h for the *ompR* mutant (Figure 9A) and 51 h for the *rcsB* m utant (Figure 9B).



Figure 9: Spatial gene expression of *flhD* in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains. A is the 3D image of the 33 h biofilm from BP1531 (*ompR::Tn10* pPS71), B is the respective image from the 51 h biofilm from BP1532 (*rcsB::Tn5* pKK12). C is the graphical representation of the spatial gene expression of *flhD* in the *ompR* mutant (red line) and the *rcsB* mutant (orange line) at the time points represented in A and B.

As explained for the temporal experiment, the images were taken at 10% of the available excitation light. Interestingly, expression of *flhD* in both mutants was high across all layers of the biofilm. Total pixel values were at 30,000 to 40,000 pixels all across both biofilms (Figure 9C). By all appearances, both OmpR and RcsB abolished spatial differences in *flhD* expression together with temporal ones.

Mutations in *ompR* and *rcsB* reduced biofilm biomass

The 3D reconstructions of the biofilms showed that the biofilm from the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants was much thinner than that of the parent strain. The mutant biofilms were no more than 4 μ m, as opposed to >8 μ m for biofilm from the parent strain (notice x-axis of Figure 9C versus that of Figure 6C). Due to optical limitations of the 100x lens used for these experiments, we could not quantify thickness of the parental biofilm with fluorescence microscopy beyond 8 μ m. To quantify biofilm biomass, the crystal violet (CV) assay was performed with parent bacteria, and *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants. The parent strain produced 2 to 2.5 times more biofilm-associated biomass than either of the two mutants (Figure 10). This difference from the parent was seen at all-time points.



Figure 10: CV assay to quantify the biofilm amounts of the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants in comparison to the parent strain.

The biofilm biomass was determined for BP1470 (*AJW678* pPS71), BP1531 (*ompR::Tn10* pPS71) and BP1532 (*rcsB::Tn5* pKK12). This was done at four different time points, which are indicated on the x-axis. The parent strain BP1470 was used as a reference strain and set at 1. The red bars are the biomass of BP1531, and the orange bars that of BP1532, both in comparison to the reference strain. Averages and standard deviations were calculated across three replicate experiments. The dashed line indicates the biomass of the reference strain.

An increase in cell length accompanied the reduced biofilm thickness of the *ompR* mutant

An observation that was made outside of the objectives for this study but in agreement with previous studies (Prüß and Matsumura, 1996; Sule et al., 2011) related to the increased cell length of bacteria that expressed excessive amounts of *flhD*. In the AJW678 parent strain, we observed the occasional occurrence of long and highly motile bacteria (snake cells) on top of the biofilm. These produced very bright fluorescence signals, which is indicative of high expression from the *flhD* promoter (Figure 11A). The effect was dramatically enhanced in the *ompR* mutant where we observed a much larger number of snake cells (Figure 11B). The longest mutant bacteria were also longer than those bacteria that were found in the biofilm of the parental strain. The quantitative measurements of bacteria from the top images of the two biofilms revealed that the majority of the parental bacteria were between 1 to 5 μ m in length, while the longest bacteria that we could find were 14 μ m (Figure 11C). In contrast, *ompR* mutants could be up to 35 μ m long. While we did not quantify length of bacteria for the *rcsB* mutant, there was no visible difference from the length of the parental bacteria (data not shown).



Figure 11: Lengths of *E. coli* parental strain and *ompR* mutants.

A is one representative image for parent strain BP1470, as is B for the *ompR* mutant strain BP1531. Both images were taken at the very top of the biofilm. C is the length profile of the bacterial populations, determined from 38 bacteria for the parent strain and 73 for the mutant. Percentages were determined across the measured population of bacteria. Dark red cross-hatched bars represent the parent strain, and red hatched bars represent the *ompR* mutant.

Discussion

In the Introduction, we hypothesised that a biofilm prevention target would be characterized by its expression early in biofilm development. This was the case for *flhD* whose expression peaked at 12 h. A biofilm treatment target was postulated to be characterized by expression late in biofilm development and at the outermost edge of the biofilm. This, too, was true for FlhD/FlhC. Expression of flhD increased again towards 51 h, and the highest expression of *flhD* was in the outer layer of the biofilm. Based upon these results, we come to the conclusion that the flagella master regulator complex FIhD/FIhC may be our first target for both biofilm prevention and treatment techniques. This would fulfill our first two goals: i) provide proof of concept that our approach can identify targets for biofilm prevention and treatment techniques and ii) establish FIhD/FIhC as the first such target. In fulfillment of the final goal of this study, we identified one mechanism to control *flhD* expression levels, as well as biofilm amounts and cell division. Mutations in both ompR and rcsB increased flhD expression to the point where temporal and spatial differences in expression were abolished. These expression increases where paralleled by decreases in biofilm amounts, relative to the parent strain. Lastly, increased *flhD* expression levels and decreased biofilm amounts of the *ompR* mutant were accompanied by an increased cell length.

The expression profiles of *flhD*, *ompR*, and *rcsB* can be related to biofilm phases

Originally described in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* it is now widely accepted that biofilm development in many bacteria involves reversible attachment, irreversible attachment, maturation, and dispersion (Sauer et al., 2002). These phases are characterized by cell surface organelles such as flagella, type I fimbriae and curli, as well as numerous exopolysaccharides. The following three paragraphs relate the temporal expression profiles of *flhD* (positive regulator of flagella), *ompR* (negative regulator of flagella and positive regulator of curli), and *rcsB* (negative regulator of flagella and positive regulator of type I fimbriae and colanic acid capsule) to current literature on biofilm developmental phases. According to our previous review (Prüß et al., 2006), the hypothesis for the temporal expression profiles was that *flhD* expression may peak during reversible attachment, *ompR* expression during irreversible attachment, and *rcsB* expression may increase towards maturation.

A recent review article summarized the regulation of motility during biofilm formation (Guttenplan and Kearns, 2013). The authors believe that flagella are important in the motility-to-biofilm transition in a way that inhibition of motility encourages biofilm formation by means of several functional (e.g. YcgR) and regulatory (e.g. RcsB) mechanisms (Ko and Park, 2000; Kaiser et al., 2010; Gottesman, Trisler, and Torres-Cabassa, 1985). Our temporal expression profile of *flhD* is partially in agreement with this postulate. We saw a peak in fluorescence at 12 hours (Figure 5), which may resemble reversible attachment, and a time period of low *flhD* expression around 34 h, possibly resembling irreversible attachment. However, expression of *flhD* increased again towards 51 h (Figure 5). This late increase is not necessarily in agreement with current biofilm models. However, Guttenplan and Kearns leave room for flagella regulators that may still be discovered (Guttenplan and Kearns, 2013). Also, the role for flagella in dispersal is controversial.

The hypothesis (Prüß et al., 2006) that *ompR* expression may be highest during irreversible attachment was built upon the fact that phospho-OmpR was a negative regulator of *flhD* expression (Shin and Park, 1995) and a positive regulator of curli (Oshima et al., 2002; Jubelin et al., 2005). Our temporal expression profile of *ompR* is in support this hypothesis. The peak for *ompR* was at 34 h, where *flhD* expression was minimal (Figure 5). The production of curli has previously been recognized as a control mechanism for biofilm formation (Gerstel and Romling, 2003), an adherence tool to human uroepithelical cells (Kikuchi et al., 2005), and part of the motility-to-biofilm transition. CsgD contributes to this transition by activating the expression of curli and inhibiting flagella biosynthesis (Ogasawara, Yamamoto, and Ishihama, 2011). The expression peak of the positive curli regulator, OmpR, at 34 h could be our marker for irreversible attachment.

Maturation of a biofilm typically requires the synthesis of an exopolysaccharide capsule that serves as a 'glue' to keep the microcolony together and contributes to adherence to the surface. This capsule can consist of many different substances, among them the K-capsule polysaccharide that is a contributor to the intracellular lifestyle of uropathogenic *E. coli* (Goller and Seed, 2010) and colanic acid, which has been recognized early as an important factor in forming the three dimensional structures that constitute the biofilm (Danese, Pratt, and Kolter, 2000). The phosphorelay system RcsCDB is an activator of colanic acid production (Stout and Gottesman, 1990), while also activating the synthesis of type I fimbriae (Schwan et al., 2007). These multiple functions of RcsB may explain the slow and steady increase of *rcsB* expression during biofilm formation (Figure 5) that cannot be correlated with a single phase of biofilm

development. With the exception of the late increase in *flhD* expression, our temporal expression profiles are in agreement with our hypothesis from the review article (Prüß et al., 2006), as well as current literature.

Regulation of *flhD* by multiple response regulators offers an opportunity to control biofilm amounts and cell division

Since the goal of our research was to modulate signal transduction pathways and reduce biofilm amounts, the next step after the identification of FlhD/FlhC as our first target would be the attempt to modulate *flhD* expression levels, ultimately causing a reduction in biofilm amounts and possibly other bacterial phenotypes, such as cell division.

The expression of *flhD* is regulated by many environmental and genetic factors. Environmental factors include temperature (Shi et al., 1992), osmolarity (Shin and Park, 1995), and the nutritional state of the cell (Prüß et al., 2010). Genetic factors are similarly diverse and include the <u>C</u>atabolite <u>Repressor Protein</u> (CRP) and the nucleoidassociated protein H-NS (Soutourina et al., 1999), the transcriptional regulator LrhA (Lehnen et al., 2002), the LysR family protein HdfR (Ko and Park, 2000), and the insertion of IS elements into the *flhD* promoter (Lee and Park, 2013; Wang and Wood, 2011; Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). Post-transcriptional regulation involves the carbon storage regulator CsrA (Wei et al., 2001) and a negative regulator of cell motility, YdiV (Li et al., 2012). At the transcriptional level, regulation of *flhD* expression can be accomplished by several of the response regulators of two-component systems, such as RcsB (Francez-Charlot et al., 2003), OmpR (Shin and Park, 1995), and QseC (Sperandio, Torres, and Kaper, 2002). Knock-out mutations in *rcsB* and *ompR* yielded an impressive increase in *flhD* expression in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants (Figs. 5 and 9). Additionally, expression of *flhD* was no longer dependent upon the biofilm phase, after the biofilm had formed (Figure 5), or the location of the individual bacterium within the biofilm (Figure 9). The temporal expression profile of *flhD* in the *ompR* mutant is similar to the one that was observed previously in planktonic bacteria (Prüß, 1998). However, in planktonic bacteria, we never observed more than 2 or 3 fold increases in *flhD* expression in the *ompR* mutant, relative to its isogenic parent. Considering that we had to decrease the excitation light for the fluorescence microscopy from 90% to 10% of the available light, it is obvious that the difference in *flhD* expression in the parent strain and the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants was much larger than 2 or 3 fold.

Intriguingly, the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants are also our first two examples of controlling biofilm amounts and cell division by modulating the expression levels of FlhD/FlhC. In addition to exhibiting increased expression levels of *flhD*, the mutants also produced reduced biofilm amounts (Figure 10). This observation provides confidence in our conclusion that impacting the signal transduction cascade, consisting of multiple two-component response regulators and FlhD/FlhC, can be used to control biofilm amounts. While cell division was not among the objectives of this study, we noticed that the *ompR* mutant also had a cell division defect in addition to the reduced ability to form biofilm (Figure 9). Bacterial cells of the *ompR* mutant strain were much longer than those of the parent strain. We cannot explain why the *rcsB* mutant did not exhibit this phenotype, but have previously seen a similar increase in cell size and decrease in cell number in the *ompR* mutant in planktonic bacteria (Prüß, 1998).

Since the number of two-component systems in *E. coli* are many (Oshima et al., 2002) and response regulators respond to a diversity of environmental signals, the twocomponent signal transduction mechanism offers ample opportunity at controlling bacterial phenotypes and behaviors by deliberately changing the bacterial environment. In particular, varying the nutrient source for the bacteria has proven successful in controlling biofilm amounts, as well as the cell division rate. As an example for biofilm control, the two-component system for C4-dicarboxylic acid metabolism, DcuS/DcuR (Golby et al., 1999), was found to be required for biofilm formation in the presence of fumarate, malate, and succinate (Prüß et al., 2010). Likewise, we were able to increase the cell division rate by continuous additions of serine to the bacterial growth medium, the signal transduction cascade involved phosphorylation of OmpR by acetyl phosphate and inhibition of *flhD* expression (Prüß and Matsumura, 1996). In *E. coli* O157:H7, the bacterial carbon source ß-phenylethylamine was able to reduce biofilm amounts on plastic and bacterial cell counts in liquid beef broth medium (Lynnes et al., submitted to Meat Science). Bacterial cell counts were reduced when bacteria were grown on the surface of beef meat.

Conclusions and Outlook

The goal of this study was to show that the study of temporal and spatial gene expression can lead to the identification of targets for the development of novel biofilm prevention and treatment options. We propose FlhD/FlhC as the first of such targets. Our intention is to identify more of these targets using the temporal/spatial gene expression approach on a selection of biofilm-associated genes. With respect to

FlhD/FlhC, we demostrated that a gene that is highly regulated by so many environmental and genetic factors is ideally suited to be controlled by deliberate changes to the environment, through a signal transduction cascade that may involve additional two-component response regulators beyond the two that were tested in this study, ultimately impacting biofilm amounts and possibly cell division.

Methods

Bacterial strains, plasmids, and growth conditions

All the bacterial strains and plasmids that were used for this study are listed in Table 2. Throughout the study, we used the *E. coli* K-12 strain AJW678 as a parental strain because it is a good biofilm former (Kumari et al., 2000) and wild-type for the biogenesis of flagella and type I fimbriae and curli. AJW678 is lacking the IS element (Prüß et al., 2010) in the *flhD* promoter that makes bacteria highly motile. MC1000 is another K-12 strain (Anonymous, 2010; Casadaban and Cohen, 1980). It contains an IS5 in the *flhD* promoter (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004) and is highly motile, but produces much reduced biofilm amounts. To assure maximal expression of *flhD*, we used this promoter to construct the *flhD*::*gfp* fusion plasmid pPS71.

AJW2050 is an *ompR* mutant strain due to the insertion of a *Tn*10 transposon, AJW2143 is an *rcsB* mutant strain due to *Tn*5 insertion. AJW678, AJW2050, and AJW2143 were used in several of our previous studies (Prüß et al., 2010; Sule et al., 2009). Plasmids pPS71 (*flhD::gfp*), pKK12 (pPS71 cm^R) and pEC2 (*rcsB::gfp*) were constructed for this study. The *ompR::gfp* plasmid was obtained from the Open Biosystems promoter collection (Zaslaver et al., 2006) (Thermo, Huntsville, AL).

 Table 2: Bacterial strains and plasmids.

Strains	Relevant genotypes	Reference
AJW678	thi-1 thr-1(am) leuB6 metF159(Am) rpsL136 ΔlaxX74	(Kumari et al., 2000)
AJW2050	AJW678 ompR::Tn10	(Prüß et al., 2010)
AJW2143	AJW678 rcsB::Tn 5	(Fredericks et al., 2006)
MC1000	F-, araD139 Δ(araAB leu)7696 Δ(lacX74) galU galK strA prsL thi	(Casadaban and Cohen, 1980)
BP1470	AJW678 pPS71	This study
BP1531	AJW2050 pPS71	This study
BP1532	AJW2143 pKK12	This study
BP1432	AJW678 ompR::gfp	This study
BP1462	AJW678 pEC2	This study
Plasmids		
pPS71	pUA66 <i>flhD∷gfp</i>	This study
pKK12	pPS71 <i>cm</i> ^R	This study
pOmpR:: <i>gfp</i>	pUA66 ompR::gfp	(Zaslaver et al., 2006)
pEC2	pAcGFP rcsB::gfp	This study

The *Tn*10 and *Tn*5 transposons confer resistance towards tetracycline and kanamycin, respectively. Δ constitutes a deletion of the respective gene. cm^R indicates chloramphenicol resistance. *gfp* encodes green fluorescence protein.

Cloning of *flhD::gfp* (pPS71), pPS71 Cm^R (pKK12) and *rcsB::gfp* (pEC2) plasmids

pPS71: To construct the *flhD*::*gfp* containing plasmid, the *flhD* promoter region that starts 1,419 bp upstream of the +1 transcriptional start site and ends 502 bp of the +1 amplified MC1000. 5'downstream was from using TCCTCGAGTGACTGTGCGCAACATCCCATT-3' forward 5'as primer and AGGTACCTGCCAGCTTAACCATTTGCGGA-3' as reverse primer. This promoter fragment contains the IS5 that increases flhD expression and is located at -1,294 bp to -94 bp (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004), making the fragment 1,921 bp in length. The forward and reverse primers were designed with Xhol and BamHI restriction enzyme recognition sites at the 5' ends. The *flhD* promoter fragment was then doubledigested with XhoI and BamHI. The vector pUA66 (Open Biosystems, Huntsville, AL), containing *gfpmut2* as a reporter gene and a kanamycin resistance cassette, was also digested with these enzymes. To reduce re-ligation of the plasmid, digested pUA66 vector was treated with Calf Intestinal Alkaline Phosphatase (CIAP, Promega, Madison WI) that removes the 5' phosphate. The double-digested *flhD* promoter region was ligated into the digested and CIAP-treated pUA66 vector. Competent JM109 cells (Promega, Madison WI) were transformed with the resulting plasmid pPS71. The insertion was confirmed by restriction digest and sequencing. Ultimately, pPS71 was transformed into chemically competent AJW678 and AJW2050.

<u>pKK12:</u> To permit the transformation of mutants that exhibited resistance towards kanamycin, the kanamycin resistance of pPS71 was changed to chloramphenicol resistance. pPS71 was digested with Eagl to remove 280 bp from pPS71. This removed region started upstream of the *flhD* promoter, extended into the kanamycin resistance

gene, and caused inactivation of kanamycin resistance. The digested plasmid was blunt ended with Klenow (Promega, Madison WI), and treated with CIAP. pHP45 Ω -Cm was the source of the chloramphenical resistance gene cassette (Fellay, Frey, and Krisch, 1987) and was digested with EcoRI and blunt ended with Klenow. The CIAP-treated pPS71 and pHP45 Ω -Cm DNA fragments were ligated. Competent JM109 were transformed with the resulting plasmid pKK12, transformants being resistant to chloramphenicol but not to kanamycin. Competent AJW2143 (*rcsB::Kn*) were then transformed with pKK12.

pEC2: To construct this plasmid, the rcsB promoter region that starts 100 bp upstream of its +1 transcriptional start site and ends 50 bp downstream was PCRamplified from AJW678, 5'using GAGAGATCTGCAACCTGTATCACACCCGATGAAAG-3' as forward primer and 5'-GCAAAGCTTCGGATGGTCATCGGCAATAATTACG-3' as reverse primer. The PCRamplified region was then cleaned up and ligated into pGEM-T Easy (Promega, Madison WI). Successful ligations were identified by the white color of the transformed colonies. Plasmids were digested using the HindIII and BgIII restriction sites that had been added to the 5' ends of the primers. The promoterless pAcGFP1-1 encodes the green fluorescent protein AcGFP1, a derivative of AcGFP from Aeguorea coerulescens, and has a kanamycin resistance gene (Clontech, Mountain View, CA). This plasmid was also double-digested with the same enzymes. The digested rcsB promoter region was ligated into the digested pAcGFP1-1 vector. Competent JM109 cells were transformed with the resulting plasmid pEC2. The insertion region was confirmed by restriction

digest and sequencing. Ultimately, pEC2 was transformed into chemically competent AJW678.

Bacterial strains were stored at -80°C in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Before use, the bacterial strains were streaked onto LB (1% tryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 0.5% NaCl) agar plates and incubated overnight at 37°C. From the plates, cultures were inoculated into liquid tryptone broth (TB, 1% tryptone, 0.5% NaCl) and grown overnight at 37°C. For bacterial strains containing pPS71, 25 μ g/ml of kanamycin were added to the bacterial growth medium. For pEC2, 50 μ g/ml of kanamycin were added. For pKK12, 50 μ g/ml of chloramphenicol were added.

Temporal and spatial expression of *flhD*, *ompR*, and *rcsB*

E. coli strains were grown in TB overnight at 37°C. One ml of each culture was injected into one channel of a 3-channel flow cell (Stovall, Greensboro NC) with a syringe as described (Pamp, Sternberg, and Tolker-Nielsen, 2009). The flow cell was incubated at room temperature for 1 h without any media flow. After that, TB was pumped by an Isma Tec Low Flow High Accuracy Peristaltic Pump (Stovall) into the flow cell at 1 ml/min, equaling 0.33 ml/min per channel. For temporal expression experiments, the flow cell was disconnected after a maximum of 62 h. For spatial expression experiments, the flow cell was disconnected at time points of interest. Each of the investigated bacterial strains was processed at least three times for both temporal and spatial experiments. The flow cell system was kept free of air bubbles by the bubble trap that is part of the Stovall system.

We used an Axio Observer Z2 upright fluorescence microscope with ApoTome2 from Zeiss (Germany) to detect the fluorescence signals coming from the promoter::gfp fusion plasmid containing strains. The Zeiss Axio Observer Z2 microscope is one of the high-end technologies from Zeiss to get the brightest and the clearest image from a weak signal. For the temporal experiment, fluorescence images were taken at 1 h, 3 h, 7 h, 9 h, 12 h, 14 h, 21 h, 27 h, 35 h, 48 h, and 51 h for BP1470 (*flhD*::*gfp*) and BP1432 (ompR::gfp); 1 h, 4 h, 14 h, 25 h, 34 h, 50 h, and 58 h were selected as time points for BP1462 (rcsB::gfp); 1 h, 5 h, 12 h, 20 h, 30 h and 51 h were chosen for BP1531 (ompR::Tn10 flhD::gfp); and 1 h, 7 h, 12 h, 22 h, 34 h, and 51 h were selected for BP1532 (rcsB::Tn5, flhD::gfp). For the spatial experiments, z-stacking images were taken at 12 h and 51 h for biofilms of BP1470; 34 h for biofilms of BP1432; 33 h and 62 h for biofilms of BP1462; 33 h for biofilms of BP1531; and 51 h for biofilms of BP1532. This was done separately for fluorescence and bright field. For both temporal and spatial experiments, images were taken at 1,000 X magnification using a 100 x/1.46 Oil α -Plan-apochromatic objective. This objective at this high magnification can only take zstacks across 8 µm. Even though some of our biofilms were 15 to 20 µm thick, we selected areas of the biofilm that were consistent with the limitation of the objective.

The intensities of the fluorescence signals of *flhD* from the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains turned out to be much higher than those from the parental strain. For this reason, we performed microscopy for BP1531 and BP1532 at 10% of the available excitation light. For BP1470, BP1432, and BP1462, we used 90% of the available excitation light.

For temporal and spatial gene expression experiments, we used Image-Pro Plus software to determine the total intensity of the fluorescence signals across each image. Next, we determined the average and standard deviation across all 9 images (3 images per biological replicate) for BP1531, BP1532, and BP1462 and across the 4 images (1 image from each biological replicate) for BP1470 and BP1432 that were obtained for each time point. Finally, the average total intensity was plotted against time for the temporal experiment or distance from the surface for the spatial experiment.

For spatial gene expression experiments, 3D reconstructions of the biofilms were done from the z-stacks with AxioVision v-4.7.1 software from Zeiss, using both fluorescence and bright field images. This software was also used to determine the lengths of bacterial cells from the parental strain and the *ompR* mutant from the outermost top images. Length of the bacteria was categorized: 1-3 μ m, 3-5 μ m, 5-10 μ m, 10-15 μ m, 15-25 μ m, and 25-35 μ m. The total number of bacteria that fall into each category was determined across the replicate images (four images for BP1470 (parent strain) and nine images for BP1531 (*ompR* mutant)). The number of bacteria in each length category was divided by the total number of bacteria that were measured. Results are expressed as percentage.

Crystal violet assay to determine biofilm biomass

Biofilm of BP1470, BP1531, and BP1532 were grown in individual wells of a 24well plate in TB for 3 h, 12 h, 35 h, and 51 h at room temperature. Liquid bacterial growth medium was removed and biofilms were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Biofilms were stained with crystal violet (CV) as described (O'Toole et al., 1999; Pratt and Kolter, 1998; Stafslien et al., 2007; Stafslien et al., 2006). The OD₆₀₀ of the extracted CV was determined from a 1:10 dilution with a Synergy H1 plate reader from BioTek (Winooski, VT). Relative biomass was determined by dividing the OD₆₀₀ for each mutant strain by the parental strain. Averages and standard deviations were determined across the three replicate experiments.

Acknowledgements

The AJW678 parental strains and its *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains were kindly provided by Dr. Alan J. Wolfe (Loyola University Chicago, Maywood, IL). Pawel Borowicz (Advanced Imaging and Microscopy Core Laboratory, NDSU) helped with the microscopy and imaging conducted in this study. The work was funded by grant 1R15Al089403 from the NIH/NIAID. The Synergy plate reader was purchased from grant 2012-67006-19659 from the USDA/NIFA.

Reference List

- 1. Anonymous, 2010, Remembering Malcolm J. Casadaban: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 192, p. 4261-4263.
- Barker, C. S., Prüß, B. M., and Matsumura, P., 2004, Increased motility of *Escherichia coli* by insertion sequence element integration into the regulatory region of the *flhD* operon: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 186, p. 7529-7537.
- 3. Bartlett, D. H., Frantz, B. B., and Matsumura, P., 1988, Flagellar transcriptional activators FlbB and FlaI: gene sequences and 5' consensus sequences of

operons under FlbB and FlaI control: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 170, p. 1575-1581.

- Bjarnsholt, T., Jensen, P. O., Fiandaca, M. J., Pedersen, J., Hansen, C. R., Andersen, C. B., Pressler, T., Givskov, M., and Hoiby, N., 2009, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients: Pediatr. Pulmonol., v. 44, p. 547-558.
- 5. Branda, S. S., Vik, S., Friedman, L., and Kolter, R., 2005, Biofilms: the matrix revisited: Trends Microbiol., v. 13, p. 20-26.
- Casadaban, M. J. and Cohen, S. N., 1980, Analysis of gene control signals by DNA fusion and cloning in *Escherichia coli*: J Mol Biol, v. 138, p. 179-207.
- Danese, P. N., Pratt, L. A., and Kolter, R., 2000, Exopolysaccharide production is required for development of *Escherichia coli* K-12 biofilm architecture: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 182, p. 3593-3596.
- 8. Domka, J., Lee, J., Bansal, T., and Wood, T. K., 2007, Temporal geneexpression in *Escherichia coli* K-12 biofilms: Environ. Microbiol., v. 9, p. 332-346.
- 9. Fellay, R., Frey, J., and Krisch, H., 1987, Interposon mutagenesis of soil and water bacteria: a family of DNA fragments designed for *in vitro* insertional mutagenesis of gram-negative bacteria: Gene, v. 52, p. 147-154.
- 10. Francez-Charlot, A., Laugel, B., Van, G. A., Dubarry, N., Wiorowski, F., Castanie-Cornet, M. P., Gutierrez, C., and Cam, K., 2003, RcsCDB His-Asp phosphorelay

system negatively regulates the *flhDC* operon in *Escherichia coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 49, p. 823-832.

- Franks, A. E., Glaven, R. H., and Lovley, D. R., 2012, Real-time spatial gene expression analysis within current-producing biofilms: ChemSusChem., v. 5, p. 1092-1098.
- Fredericks, C. E., Shibata, S., Aizawa, S. I., Reimann, S. A., and Wolfe, A. J., 2006, Acetyl phosphate-sensitive regulation of flagellar biogenesis and capsular biosynthesis depends on the Rcs phosphorelay: Mol. Microbiol., v. 61, p. 734-747.
- 13. Garcia-Betancur, J. C., Yepes, A., Schneider, J., and Lopez, D., 2012, Single-cell analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* biofilms using fluorescence microscopy and flow cytometry: J. Vis. Exp..
- 14. Gerstel, U. and Romling, U., 2003, The *csgD* promoter, a control unit for biofilm formation in *Salmonella typhimurium*: Res. Microbiol., v. 154, p. 659-667.
- Golby, P., Davies, S., Kelly, D. J., Guest, J. R., and Andrews, S. C., 1999, Identification and characterization of a two-component sensor-kinase and response-regulator system (DcuS-DcuR) controlling gene expression in response to C4-dicarboxylates in *Escherichia coli*: Journal of Bacteriology, v. 181, p. 1238-1248.

- Goller, C. C. and Seed, P. C., 2010, Revisiting the *Escherichia coli* polysaccharide capsule as a virulence factor during urinary tract infection: contribution to intracellular biofilm development: Virulence, v. 1, p. 333-337.
- Gottesman, S., Trisler, P., and Torres-Cabassa, A., 1985, Regulation of capsular polysaccharide synthesis in *Escherichia coli* K-12: characterization of three regulatory genes: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 162, p. 1111-1119.
- Grantcharova, N., Peters, V., Monteiro, C., Zakikhany, K., and Romling, U., 2010, Bistable expression of CsgD in biofilm development of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *typhimurium*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 192, p. 456-466.
- Guttenplan, S. B. and Kearns, D. B., 2013, Regulation of flagellar motility during biofilm formation: FEMS Microbiol. Rev.
- Hagiwara, D., Sugiura, M., Oshima, T., Mori, H., Aiba, H., Yamashino, T., and Mizuno, T., 2003, Genome-wide analyses revealing a signaling network of the RcsC-YojN-RcsB phosphorelay system in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 5735-5746.
- Hoa, M., Tomovic, S., Nistico, L., Hall-Stoodley, L., Stoodley, P., Sachdeva, L., Berk, R., and Coticchia, J. M., 2009, Identification of adenoid biofilms with middle ear pathogens in otitis-prone children utilizing SEM and FISH: Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol., v. 73, p. 1242-1248.

- Jakobsen, T. H., van, G. M., Christensen, L. D., Bjarnsholt, T., and Givskov, M.,
 2011, Qualitative and quantitative determination of quorum sensing inhibition in vitro: Methods Mol. Biol., v. 692, p. 253-263.
- Jubelin, G., Vianney, A., Beloin, C., Ghigo, J. M., Lazzaroni, J. C., Lejeune, P., and Dorel, C., 2005, CpxR/OmpR interplay regulates curli gene expression in response to osmolarity in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 187, p. 2038-2049.
- Kaiser, M., Li, H., Spangler, C., Kasper, C. A., Kaever, V., Sourjik, V., Roth, V., and Jenal, U., 2010, Second messenger-mediated adjustment of bacterial swimming velocity: Cell, v. 141, p. 107-116.
- Kikuchi, T., Mizunoe, Y., Takade, A., Naito, S., and Yoshida, S., 2005, Curli fibers are required for development of biofilm architecture in *Escherichia coli* K-12 and enhance bacterial adherence to human uroepithelial cells: Microbiol. Immunol., v. 49, p. 875-884.
- 26. Kim, D. J., Boylan, B., George, N., and Forst, S., 2003, Inactivation of *ompR* promotes precocious swarming and *flhDC* expression in *Xenorhabdus nematophila*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 5290-5294.
- Klausen, M., Heydorn, A., Ragas, P., Lambertsen, L., Aaes-Jorgensen, A., Molin, S., and Tolker-Nielsen, T., 2003, Biofilm formation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* wild type, flagella and type IV pili mutants: Mol. Microbiol., v. 48, p. 1511-1524.

- 28. Ko, M. and Park, C., 2000, Two novel flagellar components and H-NS are involved in the motor function of *Escherichia coli*: J. Mol.Biol., v. 303, p. 371-382.
- 29. Kumari, S., Beatty, C. M., Browning, D. F., Busby, S. J., Simel, E. J., Hovel-Miner, G., and Wolfe, A. J., 2000, Regulation of acetyl coenzyme A synthetase in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 182, p. 4173-4179.
- 30. Lee, C. and Park, C., 2013, Mutations upregulating the *flhDC* operon of *Escherichia coli* K-12: J. Microbiol., v. 51, p. 140-144.
- Lehnen, D., Blumer, C., Polen, T., Wackwitz, B., Wendisch, V. F., and Unden, G.,
 2002, LrhA as a new transcriptional key regulator of flagella, motility and chemotaxis genes in *Escherichia coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 45, p. 521-532.
- Li, B., Li, N., Wang, F., Guo, L., Huang, Y., Liu, X., Wei, T., Zhu, D., Liu, C., Pan, H., Xu, S., Wang, H. W., and Gu, L., 2012, Structural insight of a concentration-dependent mechanism by which YdiV inhibits *Escherichia coli* flagellum biogenesis and motility: Nucleic Acids Res., v. 40, p. 11073-11085.
- McLoon, A. L., Kolodkin-Gal, I., Rubinstein, S. M., Kolter, R., and Losick, R.,
 2011, Spatial regulation of histidine kinases governing biofilm formation in Bacillus subtilis: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 193, p. 679-685.
- 34. Mizuno, T., Kato, M., Jo, Y. L., and Mizushima, S., 1988, Interaction of OmpR, a positive regulator, with the osmoregulated *ompC* and *ompF* genes of *Escherichia coli*. Studies with wild-type and mutant OmpR proteins: Journal of Biological Chemistry, v. 263, p. 1008-1012.

- O'Toole, G. A., Pratt, L. A., Watnick, P. I., Newman, D. K., Weaver, V. B., and Kolter, R., 1999, Genetic approaches to study of biofilms: Methods Enzymol., v. 310, p. 91-109.
- Ogasawara, H., Yamamoto, K., and Ishihama, A., 2011, Role of the biofilm master regulator CsgD in cross-regulation between biofilm formation and flagellar synthesis: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 193, p. 2587-2597.
- Oshima, T., Aiba, H., Masuda, Y., Kanaya, S., Sugiura, M., Wanner, B. L., Mori,
 H., and Mizuno, T., 2002, Transcriptome analysis of all two-component regulatory system mutants of *Escherichia coli* K-12: Mol. Microbiol., v. 46, p. 281-291.
- Pamp, S. J., Sternberg, C., and Tolker-Nielsen, T., 2009, Insight into the microbial multicellular lifestyle via flow-cell technology and confocal microscopy: Cytometry A, v. 75, p. 90-103.
- Pratt, L. A. and Kolter, R., 1998, Genetic analysis of *Escherichia coli* biofilm formation: roles of flagella, motility, chemotaxis and type I pili: Mol. Microbiol., v. 30, p. 285-293.
- Prüß, B. M., 1998, Acetyl phosphate and the phosphorylation of OmpR are involved in the regulation of the cell division rate in *Escherichia coli*: Arch. Microbiol., v. 170, p. 141-146.

- Prüß, B. M., Besemann, C., Denton, A., and Wolfe, A. J., 2006, A complex transcription network controls the early stages of biofilm development by *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 188, p. 3731-3739.
- 42. Prüß, B. M., Campbell, J. W., Van Dyk, T. K., Zhu, C., Kogan, Y., and Matsumura, P., 2003, FlhD/FlhC is a regulator of anaerobic respiration and the Entner-Doudoroff pathway through induction of the methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein Aer: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 534-543.
- Prüß, B. M., Liu, X., Hendrickson, W., and Matsumura, P., 2001, FlhD/FlhCregulated promoters analyzed by gene array and *lacZ* gene fusions: FEMS Microbiol. Lett., v. 197, p. 91-97.
- 44. Prüß, B. M., Markovic, D., and Matsumura, P., 1997, The *Escherichia coli* flagellar transcriptional activator *flhD* regulates cell division through induction of the acid response gene *cadA*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 179, p. 3818-3821.
- Prüß, B. M. and Matsumura, P., 1996, A regulator of the flagellar regulon of *Escherichia coli*, *flhD*, also affects cell division: Journal of Bacteriology, v. 178, p. 668-674.
- Prüß, B. M., Verma, K., Samanta, P., Sule, P., Kumar, S., Wu, J., Horne, S. M., Christianson, D. A., Stafslien, S. J., Wolfe, A. J., and Denton, A., 2010, Environmental and genetic factors that contribute to *Escherichia coli* K-12 biofilm formation: Arch. Microbiol., v. 192, p. 715-728.

- 47. Saint, S. and Chenoweth, C. E., 2003, Biofilms and catheter-associated urinary tract infections: Infect.Dis.Clin.North Am., v. 17, p. 411-432.
- Sauer, K., Camper, A. K., Ehrlich, G. D., Costerton, J. W., and Davies, D. G.,
 2002, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* displays multiple phenotypes during development as a biofilm: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 184, p. 1140-1154.
- Schaudinn, C., Gorur, A., Keller, D., Sedghizadeh, P. P., and Costerton, J. W., 2009, Periodontitis: an archetypical biofilm disease: J. Am. Dent. Assoc., v. 140, p. 978-986.
- Schwan, W. R., Shibata, S., Aizawa, S. I., and Wolfe, A. J., 2007, The twocomponent response regulator RcsB regulates type 1 piliation in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, p. 7159-7163.
- 51. Shi, W., Zhou, Y., Wild, J., Adler, J., and Gross, C. A., 1992, DnaK, DnaJ, and GrpE are required for flagellum synthesis in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 174, p. 6256-6263.
- 52. Shin, S. and Park, C., 1995, Modulation of flagellar expression in *Escherichia coli* by acetyl phosphate and the osmoregulator OmpR: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 177, p. 4696-4702.
- 53. Soutourina, O., Kolb, A., Krin, E., Laurent-Winter, C., Rimsky, S., Danchin, A., and Bertin, P., 1999, Multiple control of flagellum biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*: role of H-NS protein and the cyclic AMP-catabolite activator protein complex in

transcription of the *flhDC* master operon: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 181, p. 7500-7508.

- 54. Sperandio, V., Torres, A. G., and Kaper, J. B., 2002, Quorum sensing *Escherichia coli* regulators B and C (QseBC): a novel two-component regulatory system involved in the regulation of flagella and motility by quorum sensing in *E. coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 43, p. 809-821.
- 55. Stafslien, S., Daniels, J., Chisholm, B., and Christianson, D., 2007, Combinatorial materials research applied to the development of new surface coatings III. Utilisation of a high-throughput multiwell plate screening method to rapidly assess bacterial biofilm retention on antifouling surfaces: Biofouling, v. 23, p. 37-44.
- Stafslien, S. J., Bahr, J. A., Feser, J. M., Weisz, J. C., Chisholm, B. J., Ready, T. E., and Boudjouk, P., 2006, Combinatorial materials research applied to the development of new surface coatings I: a multiwell plate screening method for the high-throughput assessment of bacterial biofilm retention on surfaces: J. Comb. Chem., v. 8, p. 156-162.
- Stout, V. and Gottesman, S., 1990, RcsB and RcsC: a two-component regulator of capsule synthesis in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 172, p. 659-669.

- Sule, P., Wadhawan, T., Carr, N. J., Horne, S. M., Wolfe, A. J., and Prüß, B. M.,
 2009, A combination of assays reveals biomass differences in biofilms formed by *Escherichia coli* mutants: Letters in Applied Microbiology, v. 49, p. 299-304.
- 59. Sule, P., Horne, S. M., Logue, C. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2011, FlhC regulates cell division, biofilm formation and virulence in *Escherichia col*i O157:H7 grown on meat: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 77, p. 3653-3662.
- Villena, G. K., Fujikawa, T., Tsuyumu, S., and Gutierrez-Correa, M., 2010, Structural analysis of biofilms and pellets of *Aspergillus niger* by confocal laser scanning microscopy and cryo scanning electron microscopy: Bioresour. Technol., v. 101, p. 1920-1926.
- Wang, S., Fleming, R. T., Westbrook, E. M., Matsumura, P., and McKay, D. B.,
 2006, Structure of the *Escherichia coli* FlhDC complex, a prokaryotic heteromeric regulator of transcription: J. Mol. Biol., v. 355, p. 798-808.
- 62. Wang, X. and Wood, T. K., 2011, IS5 inserts upstream of the master motility operon *flhDC* in a quasi-Lamarckian way: ISME. J., v. 5, p. 1517-1525.
- Wei, B. L., Brun-Zinkernagel, A. M., Simecka, J. W., Prüß, B. M., Babitzke, P., and Romeo, T., 2001, Positive regulation of motility and *flhDC* expression by the RNA-binding protein CsrA of *Escherichia coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 40, p. 245-256.
- 64. Zaslaver, A., Bren, A., Ronen, M., Itzkovitz, S., Kikoin, I., Shavit, S., Liebermeister, W., Surette, M. G., and Alon, U., 2006, A comprehensive library of

fluorescent transcriptional reporters for *Escherichia coli*: Nat. Methods, v. 3, p. 623-628.

Addendum 1; Detailed information about the cloning of plasmid pPS71

Cloning of pPS71

The following Figure 12 is the graphical representation of the cloning of pPS71.



Figure 12: Cloning of pPS71.

flhD promoter regions were cloned into pUA66. Promoter regions were first ligated into pGEM-T Easy vector and transformed into JM109. The resulting plasmids were digested with XhoI and BamHI and ligated into pPA66 plasmids that had been digested with the same enzymes. First JM109 and then AJW678 competent cells were transformed with the promoter fused pUA66.
	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200
pPS71 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus		AACAGATTG AACAGATTG AACAGATTG	ARATACATCI Aratacatci Aratacatci	TARAACAAAA TAAAACAAAA TAAAACAAAA	GTATGACTTA Gtatgactta Gtatgactta	TACATTTATO TACATTTATO TACATTTATO	TTAAGGAAG TTAAG TTAAG	GTGCGAACAA	IGTCCCTGATA	TGAGATCATG	TTTGTCATCT	GGAGCCATAGA	ACAGGATTCA	ITCATGAGTCA	ITCARCTTACC	TTCGCCGAC	AGTGAATTCAG	CAGTAAGCG	CCGTCAGACCA	IGARAAGAGA	
pPS71	201	210	220	230	240	250	260	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390	400
	TCCCG	CATGGAGCA	GATTCTGCCA	ATGGCAAAAC	ATGGTGGAAG	STCATCGAGCO	GTTTTACCC	CAAGGCTGGT	AATGGCCGGC	GACCTTATCC	GCTGGAAACC	атостасосат	TCACTGCATG	CAGCATTGGT	ACAACCTGAG	CGATGGCGC	GATGGAAGATG	CTCTGTACG	RAATCGCCTCO	ATECETCTE	тттесссе
Consensus																					
	401	410	420	430	440	450	460	470	480	490	500	510	520	530	540	550	560	570	580	590	600
pPS71	GTTAT	CCCTGGATA	GCGCCTTGCO	CGGACCGCAC	CACCATCATG	GAATTTCCGCC	ACCTGCTGG	AGCAGCATCA	ACTEGCCCEC	CAATTGTTCA	AGACCATCAA	ICGCTGGCTGG	CCGAAGCAGG	CGTCATGATO	ACTCAAGGCA	CCTTGGTCG	ATGCCACCATC	ATTGAGGCA	CCCAGCTCGA	CAAGAACAA	AGAGCAGC
Consensus			•••••		•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••				•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
	601	610	620	630	640	650	660	670	680	690	700	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780	790	800
рРS71 £160(9,14678)	AACGC	GATCCGGAG	ATGCATCAGA	RCCAAGAAAG	GCAATCAGTG	GCACTTTGGC	ATGAAGGCC	CACATTGGTG	TCGATGCCAA	GAGTGGCCTG	ACCCACAGCC	IGGTCACCACO	GCGGCCAACG	AGCATGACCI	CAATCAGCTG	GGTAATCTG	CTGCATGGAGA	GGAGCAATT	TGTCTCANCCO	ATGCCGGCT	ACCAAGGG
Consensus	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
	801	810	820	830	840	850	860	870	880	890	900	910	920	930	940	950	960	970	980	990	1000
PPS71 f1hD(AJH678)	GCGCC	ACAGCGCGA	GGAGCTGGCO	CGAGGTGNAT	GTGGACTGGC	TGATCGCCGA	600000000000000000000000000000000000000	GCAAGGTAAG	AACCTTGAAA	CAGCATCCAC	GCAAGAACAA	RACGGCCATCA	ACATCGAATA	CATGAAAGCO	AGCATCCGGG	CCAGGGTGG	AGCACCCATTT	CGCATCATC	AAGCGACAGT	CGGCTTCGT	GAAAGCCA
Consensus	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
	1001 	1010	1020	1030	1040	1050	1060	1070	1080	1090	1100	1110	1120	1130	1140	1150	1160	1170	1180	1190	1200 l
pPS71 f1hD(rjH678)	GATAC																				
Consensus	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	+1		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
	1201 	1210	1220	1230	1240	1250	1260	1270	1280	1290	1300	1310	1320	1330	1340	1350	1360	1370	1380	1390	1400 l
PPS71 f1hD(RJH678)	AATGA	AATGACTGA	GTCAGCCGAG	GAAGAATTTC	CCCGCTTATT	CGCACCTTCC	TTAAGTAAT	TGAGTGTTTT TGAGTGTTTT	GTGTGATCTG GTGTGATCTG	CATCACGCAT CATCACGCAT	TATTGAAAAT	CGCAGCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	TCCGTTGTAT	GTGCGTGTAG	itgacgagtac itgacgagtac	AGTTGCGTC	GATTTAGGAAA GATTTAGGAAA	iaatcttaga Iaatcttaga	TAAGTGTAAA(TAAGTGTAAA(ACCCATTIC	TATTTGTA Tatttgta
Consensus	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		TGAGTGTTTT	GTGTGATCTG	CATCACGCAT	TATTGAAAAT	CGCAGCCCCCC	TCCGTTGTAT	GTGCGTGTA	TGACGAGTAC	AGTTGCGTC	GATTTAGGARA	IAATCTTAGA	TAAGTGTAAA	ACCCATTIC	TATTTGTA
	1401 	1410	1420	1430	1440	1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500	1510	1520	1530	1540	1550	1560	1570	1580	1590	1600 l
PPS71 f1hD(AJH678)	aggac Aggac	ATATTAAAC ATATTAAAC	CAAAAAGGT(Caaaaaggt(GTTCTGCTT	ATTGCAGCTT ATTGCAGCTT	IATCGCAACTA IATCGCAACTA	ITTCTAATGC ITTCTAATGC	TAATTATTTT TAATTATTTT	TTACCGGGGC TTACCGGGGC	TTCCCGGCGA TTCCCGGCGA	CATCACGGGG Catcacgggg	igcggtgaaac igcggtgaaac	CGCATAAAAA CGCATAAAAA	ITAAAGTTGG1 ITAAAGTTGG1	TATTCTGGGT	GGGAATAATI	GCATACCTCCG GCATACCTCCG	AGTTGCTGA	AACACATTTA AACACATTTA	GACATCAAC	TTGTCATA TTGTCATA
Consensus	AGGAC	ATATTAAAC	CARAAAGGTO	GTTCTGCTT	ATTGCAGCTT	FATCGCAACTE	ITTCTAATGC	TAATTATTT	TTACCGGGGC	TTCCCGGCGA	CATCACGGGG	IGCGGTGAAAC	CGCATAAAAA	ITAAAGTTGGT	TATTCTGGGT	GGGAATAATI	GCATACCTCCG	AGTTGCTGA	AACACATTTA	GACATCAAC	TTGTCATA
	1601 	1610	1620	1630	1640	1650	1660	1668 I													
PPS71 flhD(AJW678) Consensus	TTTAC	TACTTGCAC	HGCGTTTGA1 AGCGTTTGA1 AGCGTTTGA1	I TGTTCHGGA ITGTTCAGGA ITGTTCAGGA	CHHHGCGTCC Caaagcgtcc Caaagcgtcc	COLTATOTTIC Coctatottic Coctatottic	GTCTCGGCA GTCTCGGCA GTCTCGGCA	THHHTG TAAATG TAAATG													

Figure 13: Sequence alignment of the cloned *flhD* **promoter of pPS71 and** *flhD* **promoter of AJW678.** The +1 transcriptional start site and the ATG start codon are indicated. The IS5 element of cloned *flhD* promoter of pPS71 is shown in the black colored sequences.

Sequencing alignment result of *flhD* promoter of pPS71

The *flhD* promoter sequences from AJW678 and *flhD* promoter sequences pPS71 plasmids are compared in Figure 13. The top and bottom alignment clearly shows the difference between those two promoter regions, due to the 1200 bp IS5 element in the *flhD* promoter of pPS71. The IS5 element started at -1294 bp and ended at -94 bp from the +1 transcriptional start sites.

Addendum 2; response to reviewer's concerns

1. Reviewers requested a statistical analysis of the temporal gene expression data that we did with the Loess procedure. The statistical analysis yielded confidence bands for the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains that did not overlap with that of the parent (Figure 14). This indicates that there is indeed a statistically significant difference between the parent strain and either of the two mutants.



Figure 14: Statistical analysis of temporal expression of *flhD, ompR* and *rcsB* in AJW678 and *flhD* in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains.

Upper and lower lines of each colors indicate the highest and the lowest level of the total fluorescence intensity. The dark red, black, and blue lines show the gene expression profile of *flhD*, *ompR* and *rcsB*, respectively.

2. Reviewers also requested a housekeeping gene for the temporal and spatial gene expression. We used *aceK*, which encodes isocitrate dehydrogenase. This enzyme catalyzes the oxidative decarboxylation of isocitrate to produce α -ketoglutarate and CO₂ in the tricarboxylic acid cycle. The temporal gene expression of *aceK* was done for up to 58 h and the spatial gene expression was measured on 58 h of biofilms (Figure 15). The spatial expression of aceK was done at 34 h (Figure 16).



Figure 15: Temporal gene expression of aceK.



Figure 16: Spatial gene expression of *aceK* at 34 h.

PAPER 2: IS ELEMENT INSERTION PLAYS AN IMPORTANT ROLE IN THE REGULATION OF *E. COLI FLHD* GENE EXPRESSION AND EVOLUTION OF THE BIOFILM²

<u>Abstract</u>

Biofilm is an aggregation of bacterial communities that respond to changes in the environment by means of evolutionary adaptation, as well as changes in gene expression. Both evolution and gene expression regulation have been studied on FlhD/FlhC, the master regulator of flagella expression and global regulator of many metabolic genes. It is possible that IS element insertion into the *flhD* promoter is a major adaptive mechanism with regard to both evolution and gene expression.

We recovered colonies from mature biofilms, formed by a highly motile, poor biofilm forming *E. coli*. A total of 85 isolates were recovered that had little or no motility. Twenty-seven of the non-motile isolates contained insertions of IS1 in their *flhD* operon. All the IS elements had inserted in close proximity to the translational start of FlhD or within the open reading frame of FlhC.

² Priyankar Samanta, Joseph Sayler, Shelley M. Horne, and Birgit M. Prüß* 2014

Most of the work, including the writing of the first draft of the manuscript was done by Priyankar Samanta. Joseph Sayler isolated the colonies, Shelley Horne performed PCR reactions. Below is the first draft that was written by Priyankar Samanta and submitted for publication. Addendum 1 provides the sequence alignments for some of the *flhD* promoters.

Using flow cell techniques, *gfp* reporter gene fusions, and fluorescence microscopy, we determined the temporal and spatial expression of several different *flhD* promoter regions that contained IS elements. The expression pattern from the *flhD1* promoter (no IS) was similar to the previously published pattern with the *flhD3* promoter that contained an IS5 at -99 to -96 upstream of the transcriptional start of *flhD*. Expression of *flhD1* was increased in knock-out mutants of OmpR or RcsB and also highest at the outermost edge of the biofilm. There was little or no expression from the *flhD4* promoter that contained an IS1 element at 5 bp upstream of the start codon for FlhD in addition to the IS5 at -99 to -96 from the transcriptional start.

We conclude that insertion of an IS element into the *flhD* promoter can have positive or negative effects on *flhD* expression, depending on the position of the IS insertion. We believe that we were able to recover non-motile isolates because the biofilm contains niches where motility may be a disadvantage. These niches may be located at the bottom of the surface, where we could not detect any *flhD* expression.

Keywords: *Escherichia coli*, biofilm, IS element insertion, two-component response regulators

Background

Escherichia coli FlhD/FlhC is the master regulator of the flagella transcriptional hierarchy (Silverman and Simon, 1973; Bartlett, Frantz, and Matsumura, 1988) and a global regulator of many metabolic genes (Prüß *et al.*, 2003; Prüß *et al.*, 2001). The role of FlhD/FlhC in the formation of biofilm, a complex community of bacteria that forms on surfaces, is controversial. Research by our own lab is in agreement with the idea that whether FlhD/FlhC constitutes an advantage or a disadvantage for biofilm-bound

bacteria may depend on the time point of biofilm formation, as well as the location of the individual bacterium within the biofilm (Samanta *et al.*, 2013).

FIhD/FIhC is tightly controlled in response to many signals from the environment. This is accomplished in part by means of two-component signal transduction systems (2CSTSs) which also provide a link between signaling and central metabolism in the form of acetyl phosphate (Wolfe et al., 2003) or acetyl-CoA (Thao et al., 2010). Examples of 2CSTSs that either activate or inhibit the expression of FIhD/FIhC are the osmoregulator EnvZ/OmpR (Shin and Park, 1995), the colanic acid activator RcsCDB (Francez-Charlot et al., 2003), and the quorum sensing system QseB/QseC (Sperandio, Torres, and Kaper, 2002). These three 2CSTSs also have functions in *E. coli* biofilms (Prigent-Combaret et al., 2001; Gottesman, Trisler, and Torres-Cabassa, 1985; Kostakioti et al., 2009). Additional regulators that control the expression of FlhD/FlhC include the anaerobic regulator LrhA (Lehnen et al., 2002), the DNA folding protein H-NS (Bertin et al., 1994), the catabolite repressor protein CRP (Soutourina et al., 1999), multiple heat shock proteins (Shi et al., 1992; Mizushima et al., 1994), the anti-FlhD/FlhC factor YdiV (Li et al., 2012), Hha (Sharma and Bearson, 2013), and even a small RNA (Thomason et al., 2012). Our previous research focused on a triangle of regulation, consisting of OmpR and RcsB, both inhibiting the expression of FIhD/FIhC in their phosphorylated form by binding to specific sequences within the *flhD* promoter (Prüß and Wolfe, 1994; Samanta et al., 2013; Prüß et al., 2010).

While regulation of gene expression is undeniably important for bacteria that are associated with a biofilm, the many different niches that constitute the biofilm also give ample opportunity for evolution to act on the bacteria (Saint-Ruf *et al.*, 2014). Some of

this adaptation involves the *flhD* promoter. As one example, an insertion of IS5 into the flhD promoter of the originally non-motile version of the E. coli K-12 strain MG1655 Fnroccurred on motility plates, causing a 2.7 fold increase in the expression of flhD and a 7 fold increase in the swarm rate (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). Since the IS element had inserted into the binding sites for the *flhD* inhibitors OmpR and LrhA, Barker and coworkers hypothesized that the increase in *flhD* expression might be due to a relieving of transcriptional repression by those two regulators. Wang and Wood determined that IS5 element insertion into the *flhD* promoter of BW25311 increased both motility and the bacteria's ability to form biofilm (Wang and Wood, 2011). In both these previous reports (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004; Wang and Wood, 2011), IS5 inserted into the same 4-bp target site (5'-TTAA-3') at 96–99 bp upstream of the transcription start of *flhD*, causing a strain with originally poor motility to become more motile. A third group led by C. Park in South Korea found IS elements further upstream of the transcriptional start for *flhD* (Lee and Park, 2013) after selecting for motility in a way similar to Barker et al. (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). The precise insertion spots were at -315 for an IS5, -303 for an IS1, and -166 for another IS5 (Lee and Park, 2013). This was done with the non-motile version of MG1655.

The above-described insertions of IS elements in the *flhD* promoters of different genetic *E. coli* backgrounds have in common that they cause an increase in the expression of FlhD/FlhC and motility. However, they were also selected on motility plates, where an increase in motility constitutes a definite advantage. The Wood group determined that their IS5 insertion also occurred in biofilm, creating biodiversity within the biofilm. They concluded that the bacteria may be able to sense whether motility is

an advantage or a disadvantage before they undergo mutagenesis, calling this process 'Quasi-Lamarckian' (Wang and Wood, 2011).

This raises the intriguing question whether it might be possible to obtain IS element insertions in the *flhD* promoter that will reduce motility under conditions where motility is a disadvantage. In addition to this question, we have two hypotheses. The first one is on evolution, where we hypothesize that the biofilm may contain such motility counter-selecting niches. The second hypothesis is on gene expression and builds upon the hypothesis from Barker et al. (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004) that the IS elements increased *flhD* expression and motility by relieving the effect of some of the negative regulators. As two examples, our study will test the effect of IS element insertion on regulation of *flhD* expression by OmpR and RcsB.

The question whether it is possible for IS elements in the *flhD* promoter to reduce motility was answered by the isolation of 62 non-motile isolates from MC1000 biofilm. This is also in support of our first hypothesis that the biofilm may contain niches where motility is a disadvantage. With the second hypothesis in mind, we constructed fusions of two different *flhD* promoters to the open reading frame of green fluorescence protein (*gfp*). These are the *flhD1* promoter from AJW678 that does not contain an IS element and the *flhD4* promoter from JS58 which contains the IS5 from its parent MC1000 and an additional IS1 element at -5 bp to the transcriptional start. JS58 is one of the 62 non-motile isolates from MC1000 biofilm. Gene expression from *flhD1* and *flhD4* was determined in biofilm of the parental AJW678 and isogenic *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants. The Discussion compares these gene expression patterns with the previously published gene expression pattern of the *flhD3* promoter from MC1000.

<u>Results</u>

Recovery of isolates from MC1000 biofilm

Individual isolates were recovered from biofilms of the *E. coli* K-12 strain MC1000 after 7 days and 14 days. Of the 368 colonies that were recovered after 7 days, 4 were non-motile and 9 exhibited partial motility. After 14 days of incubation, 58 of the 1,217 isolates were non-motile, and an additional 14 were partially motile. Altogether, we recovered 85 reduced-motility (62 non-motile plus 23 partially motile) colonies from the highly motile MC1000 strain. These isolates were designated JS17 through JS101 and maintained as freezer stock at -80°C. Table 3 summarizes the results from all experiments that were performed with these isolates.

IS1 elements in the *flhD* operon were discovered in 27 of 62 non-motile isolates

Complementation with the *flhD*-expressing plasmid pXL27 was performed to test for the presence of mutations in the *flhD* operon (Table 1, pXL27 compl. column). This was done with all non-motile isolates. Of the 62 isolates tested, 54 complemented to full MC1000 motility. This indicates the presence of mutations within the *flhD* operon. Interestingly, 8 non-motile isolates only complemented to partial MC1000 motility. These may have acquired mutations in flagellar genes other than *flhD* and were not further characterized as part of this study.

PCR1 and PCR2 (Figure 17; Table 3, entire PCR1/PCR2 block of columns; (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004) were performed with all partially motile and nonmotile isolates. All partially motile isolates yielded PCR products that were identical in length to those of the MC1000 parent strain.

Incub	# of	Motil	Colony	pXL27 compl. ³	PCR1/PCR	PCR3⁵			
		ity it	ns ²		Partially Motile	Non-Motile			
						Category I	Category II	Category III	
7d	368	4 NM (1%)	JS28- JS31	4 col. PM		3 col. with parental PCR fragments	1 col. with mutation in primer binding site		ND
		9 PM (2.4%)	JS19-JS27	ND	9 col. with parental PCR fragments				ND
14 d	1,217	58 NM (4.8%)	JS18, JS42- 79, JS82- JS100	54 col. FM 4 col. PM		21 col. with parental PCR fragments	8 col. with mutations in primer binding site	29 col. with 800 bp extended PCR fragments	5 col. Rev orient, 22 col. Fwd orient, 2 col. no PCR3
		14 PM (1.1%)	S17, JS32- JS41, JS80, JS81, JS101	ND	14 col. with parental PCR fragments				ND

Table 3: Summary of phenotypes for colonies that were recovered from biofilms of MC1000.

¹Motility was determined on motility plates: NM, the colony was completely <u>non-motile</u>; PM, the colony exhibited <u>partial</u> <u>motility</u> relative to its parent strain. ²All 85 colonies that exhibited a motility phenotype that was different from the respective parent were given JS designations. ³ Non-motile colonies from MC1000 biofilms were tested for complementation with pXL27: FM, at least 7 of 8 transformants exhibited the <u>full motility</u> of the parent; PM, fewer than 7 of 8 transformants were fully motile or all colonies were <u>partially motile</u>. ND, not determined. ⁴All 85 colonies were subjected to PCR1 and PCR2 to test for insertions/deletions within the *flhD* operon. ⁵The 29 colonies from category III were subjected to PCR3 to identify IS1 insertions.

The non-motile isolates were divided into three categories. Category I contained 24 isolates that produced PCR products that were of identical length as those produced by MC1000. Category II contained 9 isolates that failed to produce a PCR product in one of the two reactions. Category III consisted of 29 isolates that produced PCR products that were larger than those of MC1000 in both reactions. These category III isolates were investigated further.

Among the 29 category III isolates, 27 produced PCR fragments of 2 and 3.3 kb in PCR1 and PCR2, respectively. Examples of this group of isolates are JS44, JS58, and JS90 (Figure 17, Panel B). This combination of PCR products is indicative of an insertion of approximately 800 bp within the part of the *flhD* operon that gets amplified by PCR1. The remaining two isolates in this category, JS43 and JS70, produced PCR products that were even larger than those of JS44 (Fig 17, Panel B).



Figure 17: PCR1 and PCR2.

Panel A details the flhD operon and the two PCR reactions (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). PCR1 is expected to yield a 1,199 bp product, and PCR2 is expected to yield a 1,344 bp product in the absence of insertions or deletions. FP1 stands for Forward Primer for PCR1, FP2 stands for Forward Primer for PCR2, and RP stands for Reverse Primer for both PCR1 and PCR2. Panel B contains the 1 kb ladder (Amresco, Solon OH) and 12 lanes of PCR products: lanes 1 & 2, MC1000; lanes 3 & 4, JS44; lanes 5 & 6, JS58; lanes 7 & 8, JS90; lanes 9 & 10, JS43; lanes 11 & 12, JS70. Odd numbered lanes show products of PCR1, and even numbered lanes show those of PCR2.

_ IS (Chankyu)

1	CGTAGCGAAA	AACTTTTTAA	CAGATTGAAA	ATACACCCAA	AACAAAAGTA	TGACTTATAC
61	ATTTATGTTA	IS5 (MC1000) AGTAATTGAG	TGTTTTGTGT	GATCTGTCAT	CACGAATTAT	TGAAAATCGC
121	AGCCCCCTCC	GTTGTATGTG	CGTGTAGTGA	CGAGTACAGT	+ TGCGTCGATT	TAGGAAAAAT
181	CTTAGATAAG	TGTAAAGACC	CATTTCTATT	TGTAAGGACA	TATTAAACCA	AAAAGGTGGT
241	TCTGCTTATT	GCAGCTTATC	GCAACTATTC	TAATGCTAAT	TATTTTTTAC	CGGGGCTTCC
301	CGGCGACATC	S1 (JS44) ACGGGGTGCG	GTGAAACCGC	АТААААТАА	I AGTTGGTTAT	S1 (JS58) TCTGGGT <mark>GGG</mark>
361	AATAATGCAT	ACCTCCGAGT	TGCTGAAACA	CATTTATGAC	ATCAACTTGT	CATATTTACT
421	► FlhI acttgcacag) CGTTTGATTG	TTCAGGACAA	AGCGTCCGCT	ATGTTTCGTC	TCGGCATAAA
481	TGAAGAAATG	GCGACAACGT	TAGCGGCACT	GACTCTTCCG	CAAATGGTTA	AGCTGGCAGA
541	AACCAATCAA	CTGGTTTGTC	ACTTCCGTTT	TGACAGCCAC	CAGACGATTA	CTCAGTTGAC
601	GCAAGATTCC	CGCGTTGACG	ATCTCCAGCA	AATTCATACC	GGCATCATGC	TCTCAACACG
661	CTTGCTGAAT	GATGTTAATC	AGCCTGAAGA	AGCGCTGCGC	AAGAAAAGGG	CCTGATCATG
721	AGTGAAAAAA	GCATTGTTCA	GGAAGCGCGG	IS1 (, gatattcagc	IS90) TGGCAATGGA	FlhC attgatcacc
781	CTGGGCGCTC	GTTTGCAGAT	GCTGGAAAGC	GAAACACAGT	TAAGTCGCGG	ACGCCTGATA
841	АААСТТТАТА	AAGAACTGCG	CGGAAGCCCA	CCGCCGAAAG	GCATGCTGCC	ATTCTCAACC
901	GACTGGTTTA	TGACCTGGGA	ACAAAACGTT	CATGCTTCGA	TGTTCTGTAA	TGCATGGCAG
961	TTTTTACTGA	AAACCGGTTT	GTGTAATGGC	GTCGATGCGG	TGATCAAAGC	CTACCGTTTA
1021	TACCTTGAAC	AGTGCCCACA	AGCAGAAGAA	GGACCACTGC	TGGCATTAAC	CCGTGCCTGG
1081	ACATTGGTGC	GGTTTGTTGA	AAGTGGATTA	CTGCAACTTT	CCAGCTGCAA	CTGCTGCGGC
1141	GGCAATTTTA	TTACCCACGC	TCACCAGCCT	GTTGGCAGCT	TTGCCTGCAG	CTTATGTCAA
1201	CCGCCATCCC	GGGCAGTAAA	AAGACGTAAA	CTTTCCCAGA	ATCCTGCCGA	TATTATCCCA
1261	CAACTGCTGG	ATGAACAGAG	AGTACAGGCT	GTTTAA		

Figure 18: Sequence analysis of the *flhD* operons of MC1000, JS44, JS58, and JS90.

Open reading frames for FlhD and FlhC are marked in bold, and start and stop codons are underlined. The horizontal arrow marks the transcriptional start. Insertion sites of IS elements are highlighted in grey for IS5 from MC1000 (TTAA), IS1 from JS44 (TGCG), IS1 from JS58 (GGGA), and IS1 from JS90 (AATG). Vertical arrows mark the precise insertion sites. The IS5 that was described by C. Park has its insertion spot right before the start of the presented sequence (Lee and Park, 2013). Solid lines above the sequence indicate the two binding sites for OmpR-P. The dashed line above the sequence marks the binding site for RcsAB.

The *flhD* operons of JS44, JS58, and JS90 were sequenced. JS44 contained an IS1 element 46 bp upstream of the ATG start codon of FlhD (Figure 18). This IS1 is in the reverse orientation (Figure 19). JS58 contained an IS1 element at 5 bp upstream of the ATG start codon of FlhD (Figure 18). This IS1 is also in the reverse orientation (Figure 19). This IS1 is flanked by a string of base pairs (AATAATG) on the upstream site which constitutes a duplication of the 7 bp downstream of the IS1. This duplication does not interrupt the ATG start codon of FlhD or its open reading frame. JS90 contained an IS1 in the open reading frame for FlhC, 49 bp downstream of the ATG (Figure 18). This IS1 is in the forward orientation (Figure 19).

To determine the presence of IS1 elements in the remaining 27 non-motile isolates from category III, we performed PCR3 (Table 3, PCR3 column). We found three more isolates (JS61, JS75, and JS92) that had IS1 in the reverse orientation and at the approximate same position as JS44 and JS58. 21 isolates had IS1 in the forward orientation. Examples for these two groups of insertions are included in Figure 19. JS51 was the only isolate in the third group and had the IS1 inserted close to the JS44/JS58 insertion spot, but in the forward orientation. The two isolates that had produced PCR products larger than 2 and 3.3 kb in PCR1 and PCR2, JS43 and JS70, failed to produce a PCR3 product.



Figure 19: Outcome of PCR3.

IS5 elements, IS1 elements, and primers are indicated as follows: IS5 element of MC1000 (1,195 bp)

- IS1 elements of non-motile MC1000 isolates (768 bp)
- Reverse primer for all PCR reactions
- >>> Forward primer 3A (indicative of an IS1 element in negative orientation)
- **Forward primer 3B (indicative of an IS1 element in the positive orientation)**
- Forward primer 1 (indicated only for AJW678 and MC1000)
- **EXAMPLE :** Forward primer 2 (indicated only for AJW678 and MC1000)
- \rightarrow Transcriptional start.

Gene expression from *flhD1* was higher in *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants than in the parent strain

To test whether mutations in *ompR* and/or *rcsB* would increase expression from the *flhD1* promoter (no IS), we performed fluorescence microscopy on flow-cell-grown biofilms of BP1506 (AJW678 *flhD1::gfp*), BP1507 (AJW678 *ompR::Tn10 flhD1::gfp*), and BP1510 (AJW678 *rcsB::Tn5 flhD1::gfp*). The images for all these strains are presented in Figure 20, and the quantitative analysis of the images is explained below.

For the *flhD1* promoter, temporal gene expression in the parental strain (BP1506) peaked at 12 h and increased again towards 52 h (Figure 21A, blue line). In the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains (BP1507 and BP1510), expression from the *flhD1* promoter was constitutively high throughout the experiment after a primary increase during the initial time period of biofilm formation (Figure 21A, red and black lines). As a consequence, the spatial gene expression experiment for *flhD1* in all three strains was performed on 52 h biofilms.



Figure 20: Fluorescence images of *flhD1::gfp (left), and flhD4::gfp (right)* in AJW678 and *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants. Biofilms were grown in flow cells and subjected to fluorescence microscopy. Images were taken at 1,000x magnification.



Figure 21: Temporal and spatial gene expression of *flhD1* in the parent strain and isogenic *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains.

A and B are the quantitative representation of the temporal and spatial gene expression of *flhD1*, respectively. Blue lines indicate *flhD1* expression in AJW678. The black and red lines represent *flhD1* expression in ompR and rcsB mutants, respectively. C, D and E are the 3D images constructed from the z-stacked images at 51 hours for BP1506, BP1507 and BP1510, respectively.

At 52 h, the expression of *flhD1* was highest at the outer layer of the AJW678 biofilms (Figure 21B, blue line and Figure 21C). The total pixel values from the individual images of the *z*-stacks showed that until 3 μ m from the surface, the expression of *flhD1* was very low; then the expression jumped to approximately 70% of the total area of the images at the top layers of biofilms. Expression of *flhD1* in both mutants was high across all bacteria that were part of this biofilm, and fluorescence was around 75 to 80 % coverage across the entire biofilm of both mutants (Figure 21B, D, and E). The 3D reconstructions of the biofilms also showed that the biofilm from both mutants was no more than 4 µm, as opposed to ~8 µm for the parent strain.

Gene expression from *flhD4* was low in all tested strains

To test whether mutations in *ompR* and/or *rcsB* would increase expression from the *flhD4* promoter, the temporal gene expression experiment was performed with the *flhD4* promoter that contained both the IS5 that comes from the parent strain and the additional IS1 that JS58 had acquired during the experiment (strains BP1503, BP1504, and BP1513). Expression was very low throughout the 52 h of the experiment in the parental strain (Figure 22). Expression from this *flhD* promoter was not increased in the *ompR* and/or *rcsB* mutants. In all three strains, the fluorescence was less than 5% coverage across the entire biofilm throughout the 52 h flow cell experiment. As a consequence, we did not perform the spatial experiment. Differences in biofilm thickness between the parent and the two mutant strains were similar to those observed with the *flhD1* promoter.





This is the quantification of temporal gene expression of *flhD4*. Blue lines represent *flhD4* expression in AJW678. The black and red lines represent *flhD4* expression in the *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants, respectively.

A double mutant in ompR and rcsB produced much reduced biofilm amounts

Since single mutations in both *ompR* and *rcsB* showed highly increased *flhD1* expression, accompanied by reduced biofilm amounts, we wanted to test the effect of an *ompR rcsB* double mutant (BP1515). This was done with the temporal gene expression experiment, where expression was measured from the *flhD1* promoter (no IS). The double mutant produced almost no biofilm in the flow cell, so we were unable to measure expression from *flhD1*.

To confirm the inability of the *ompR rcsB* double mutant to form a biofilm, we quantified amounts of a static biofilm (Figure 23). The CV assay was performed with biofilm formed by the parental strain, the *ompR* mutant, the *rcsB* mutant, and the *ompR rcsB* double mutant (BP1506, BP1507, BP1510 and BP1515, respectively). Both single

mutant strains produced lower amounts of biofilm than their isogenic parental strain (60 - 70% of parental strain). The double-mutant strain produced only about 25% biofilm biomass compared to the parent on static biofilm.



Figure 23: Biofilm amounts in single and double mutants of *ompR* and *rcsB*.

The biofilm biomasses of the *ompR* mutant (BP1507), the *rcsB* mutant (BP1510) and *ompR-rcsB* double-mutant strains (BP1515) were measured and compared to the parental strain (BP1506) at four different time points. The black bars are the relative biomass of BP1507, the red bars are the relative biomass of BP1510, and the blue bars are the relative biomass of BP1515. To determine relative biomass, the OD₆₀₀ value for each individual strain was divided by those of the parent. The experiment was performed 3 times, and both average and standard deviations are presented.

Discussion

This study was started with a question and two hypotheses. The question was whether it is possible to obtain insertions of IS elements in the *flhD* promoter that render the strain non-motile under conditions where motility might be a disadvantage. By all appearances, this is the case. We isolated a total of 62 non-motile colonies from E. coli MC1000 biofilm. The fact that the mutations fall into different categories indicates that they are not all derived from the same mutational event, besides the fact that all were not from the same biofilm. Specifically, JS44 has an IS1 at +160 from the transcriptional start and 46 bp upstream of the ATG for the FlhD open reading frame. The IS1 in JS58 is even closer to the ATG at 5 bp upstream. Both these IS1 elements are within the untranslated region of the mRNA transcript, where they might interfere with the binding of the ribosome. The IS1 element in JS90 is located within the open reading frame of FlhC, rendering the strain non-motile due to the truncation of FlhC. Altogether, these three insertions are further downstream in the *flhD* operon than those previously described (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004; Wang and Wood, 2011; Lee and Park, 2013). By all appearances, the precise insertion spot of the IS element determines whether the IS has a positive or negative effect on *flhD* expression, flagella synthesis, and motility.

The first hypothesis of this study was that a mature biofilm contains many different ecological niches. In some of these niches, motility may be a disadvantage. The fact that we were able to recover 62 non-motile colonies from *E. coli* biofilm is in agreement with this hypothesis. Furthermore, the percentage of non-motile isolates (relative to all tested colonies from that sample) was higher for 14-day-old biofilm (4.8%)

than for 7-day-old biofilm (1%). While the sample size may not have been high enough for proper statistical analysis, this is some evidence that there may be increasing selective pressure towards non-motility on a small fraction of the bacteria as the biofilm matures.

These observations feed into ongoing discussions whether motility constitutes an advantage or disadvantage during biofilm formation. Flagella are the attachment tool that permits reversible attachment, the first phase of biofilm formation (Sauer et al., 2002). During irreversible attachment, the second phase of biofilm development, flagella are believed to be absent. During maturation, there may be a need for some flagellation, as flagella may be key architectural elements to construct and reinforce the biofilm superstructure (Serra et al., 2013). In agreement with this, flagella and motility are considered a requirement for biofilm formation by many bacteria, including Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Shrout et al., 2011; Toutain et al., 2007), Aeromonas spp. (Kirov, Castrisios, and Shaw, 2004), and Vibrio parahaemolyticus (Enos-Berlage et al., 2005). In contradiction, research by our own lab indicates that FIhD/FIhC may constitute a disadvantage during Escherichia coli biofilm formation under certain conditions. First, the highly motile MC1000 is a poor former of biofilm (Prüß et al., 2010), whereas AJW678 is less motile than MC1000, but forms ample amounts of biofilm (Wolfe et al., 2003). Second, a *flhC* mutation enabled a strain of *E. coli* O157:H7 to form biofilm, whereas the motile parent strain was almost unable to produce biofilm (Sule et al., 2011). This is a clear contradiction to a study of seven non-O157:H7 shiga toxinproducing strains where five of the strains that did not form a biofilm were also nonmotile (Chen et al., 2013).

Environmental conditions that have been investigated in a previous study (Prüß et al., 2010) can't be held responsible for the entirety of these apparent contradictions. We believe that the question whether motility is an advantage or a disadvantage for biofilm-bound bacteria may depend on the degree of maturation of the biofilm and the location of the individual bacterium within the biofilm. This belief was also the reason for the previous study (Samanta et al., 2013) on temporal and spatial gene expression, where we used the flhD3 promoter from MC1000 that contains the IS5 at -99 to -96. Temporal expression of *flhD3* exhibited a similar profile to the one that was described in this study for the *flhD1* promoter (no IS) from AJW678, namely a peak at 12 h and a second increase towards 52 h. This is in agreement with the idea that flagella are needed for reversible attachment (12 h peak), not needed for irreversible attachment (25 to 45 h), and then contribute to the architecture of the mature biofilm (52 h increase). Also, expression from both *flhD3* and *flhD1* was spatially dependent in a way that only bacteria at the outermost layer of the biofilm expressed FlhD/FlhC. Altogether, data presented in this study are in agreement with a hypothesis where motility can be both an advantage and a disadvantage and that the biofilm may be best served by a mixture of both motile and non-motile bacteria.

The purpose of the temporal and spatial *flhD* expression experiment was to address our second hypothesis. Based upon previous studies (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004; Wang and Wood, 2011; Lee and Park, 2013), we postulated that the high motility in *E. coli* strains that carry an IS element at -99 to -96 region (or further upstream) from the transcriptional start of the *flhD* operon might be due to a relieving of transcriptional repression by one or several of the negative regulators that bind in that

region. If this hypothesis was true, *flhD* expression should be higher from the IS5containing *flhD3* promoter (Samanta *et al.*, 2013) than for the *flhD1* promoter that does not contain an IS element (Figures 22 and 23). Also, knock-out mutations in *ompR* or *rcsB* should increase *flhD* expression to the same level, regardless of the presence or absence of the IS5.

However, the expression patterns for the two promoters looked rather similar in the parent strain, with expression from *flhD3* being only slightly higher than from *flhD1*. Knock-out mutations in either *ompR* or *rcsB* increased expression from both promoters. By first view, the increase seemed rather similar. However, the fluorescence data for the flhD1 experiment (this study) were taken at 90% of the available excitation light for all three strains. In contrast, flhD3 data in the previous study were obtained at 90% for the parent and 10% for the two mutants. This was done because of the large fluorescence signals obtained from the flhD3 promoter in the mutants. This indicates that the expression increase caused by the ompR and rcsB mutations was larger for flhD3 than for *flhD1*. It appears as though regulation of *flhD* by OmpR and RcsB is stronger in the presence of the IS5 element than in its absence, which is not in agreement with our hypothesis. It is possible that the IS5 increases *flhD* expression by a mechanism other than relieving repression by OmpR and RcsB. It is also possible that the biofilm environment, where many bacteria are in a dormant state (Kwan et al., 2013), is sufficiently different from the planktonic state that regulation is mechanistically different.

The final *flhD* promoter that was investigated in this study was the *flhD4* promoter from JS58 that contained an IS1 inserted right before the translational start of FlhD in addition to the IS5 at -99 to -96 from MC1000. This promoter was unable to

demonstrate any detectable expression and we believe that this IS might interfere with ribosome binding due to its close proximity to the start of the open reading frame.

Conclusions and Outlook

The biofilm environment constitutes many environmentally different ecological niches, which expose biofilm-associated bacteria to evolutionary events. In addition, their genes undergo precise regulation of expression. This study attempted to combine investigations of these two important mechanisms of adaptation, evolution and gene expression. We were able to recover non-motile isolates from mature biofilms that contained IS elements in their *flhD* promoters further downstream than all previously reported IS elements that were found in *flhD* promoters (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004; Wang and Wood, 2011; Lee and Park, 2013). Our non-motile isolates may have evolved in niches where motility may be a disadvantage, whereas the hyper-motility isolates from T. Wood's group (Wang and Wood, 2011) may have been from niches where motility was an advantage. This is in agreement with our observations from the gene expression experiments, where *flhD* expression was highest at the outermost edge of the biofilm and also increased towards maturation.

<u>Methods</u>

Bacterial strains

Bacterial strains used for this study are listed in Table 4. MC1000 is a highly motile (5.9 mm/h on motility plates (Prüß *et al.*, 2010)) *E. coli* K-12 strain. The high motility is due to the presence of an IS5 element in its *flhD* promoter (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004). The strain forms biofilm poorly (Prüß *et al.*, 2010). All JS17-101 isolates (Table 3) were recovered as non-motile or poorly-motile colonies from MC1000 biofilm. AJW678 is a good biofilm-forming *E. coli* K-12 strain (Kumari *et al.*, 2000), but lacking an IS element in its *flhD* promoter makes the strain less motile than MC1000 (1.9 mm/h on motility plates Prüß *et al.*, 2010). AJW2050 contains an *ompR::Tn10* (Wolfe *et al.*, 2003) and AJW2143 an *rcsB::Tn5* (Wolfe *et al.*, 2003). BP1240 contains both *ompR*::Tn10 and *rcsB*::Tn5 and was produced in this study by means of P1 transduction, using AJW2050 as the donor and AJW2143 as the recipient. All bacterial strains were maintained as freezer stocks at -80°C and streaked onto Luria Bertani (LB; 1% tryptone, 0.5% NaCl, 0.5% yeast extract) agar plates prior to the experiment.

Biofilm formation and colony recovery

Biofilms were grown from MC1000 in separate wells of a 6-well plate in LB at 32°C. After 7 and 14 days, liquid growth media was removed and biofilms were washed twice with PBS. Bacteria were suspended in PBS, serially diluted, and plated on LB agar plates. Several hundred isolated colonies were picked from these plates for each strain and screened for motility. These are referred to as isolates throughout this study.

Table 4: Bacterial Strains.

Bacterial Strains							
AJW678	thi-1 thr-1(am) leuB6 metF159(Am) rpsL136 ΔlaxX74	(Kumari <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2000)					
MC1000	F-, araD139 Δ(araAB leu)7696 Δ(lacX74) galU galK strA prsL thi	(Casadaban and Cohen, 1980)					
JS17-101	derived from the parental MC1000	This study					
AJW2050	AJW678 ompR::Tn10	(Fredericks et al., 2006)					
AJW2143	AJW678 rcsB::Tn 5	(Fredericks et al., 2006)					
BP1240	AJW678 ompR::Tn10 rcsB::Tn 5	This study					
BP1506	AJW678 pPS72 (<i>flhD1∷gfp</i>) kn ^R	This study					
BP1507	AJW2050 pPS72 (<i>flhD1</i> :: <i>gfp</i>) kn ^R	This study					
BP1510	AJW2143 pPS75 (<i>flhD1::gfp</i>) tc ^R	This study					
BP1503	AJW678 pPS74 (<i>flhD4</i> :: <i>gfp</i>) kn ^R	This study					
BP1504	AJW2050 pPS74 (<i>flhD4</i> :: <i>gfp</i>) kn ^R	This study					
BP1513	AJW2143 pPS76 (<i>flhD4</i> :: <i>gfp</i>) tc ^R	This study					
BP1515	BP1240 pPS77 (<i>flhD1</i> :: <i>gfp</i>) cm ^R	This study					
Plasmids		1					
pPS72	pUA66 <i>flhD1</i> no IS <i>::gfp</i> kn ^R	This study					
pPS74	pUA66 <i>flhD4</i> with IS1+IS5 <i>::gfp</i> kn ^R	This study					
pPS75	pPS72 tc ^R	This study					
pPS76	pPS74 tc ^R	This study					
pPS77	pPS72 cm ^R	This study					

Determination of motility phenotypes

Motility testing was done on semi-solid agar plates made from tryptone broth (TB; 1% tryptone, 0.5% NaCl) and 0.3% agar (Wolfe and Berg, 1989). Plates were incubated for 4-8 h at 32°C in a humid environment. The diameters of the swarm rings were compared between the MC1000 and its derivative isolates. Isolates that had a different motility phenotype than MC1000 were maintained as freezer stocks and are designated JS17 through JS101. Motility phenotypes of JS17 through JS101 were confirmed by testing the respective colony on motility plates two more times.

Complementation of the motility phenotype with pXL27

All non-motile isolates were transformed with plasmid pXL27 expressing *flhD* and *flhC* (Liu and Matsumura, 1994) to test for complementation of the motility phenotype. Plasmid pXL27 was moved into the respective bacterial isolates via chemical transformation, taking advantage of the penicillin resistance gene on the plasmid as a selective marker. For each non-motile colony, 8 independent transformants were tested on motility plates.

Determination of mutations within the *flhD* operon

Two PCR reactions (PCR1 and PCR2) were performed that were originally designed to detect insertions of IS elements within the *flhD* promoter (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004), but could also be used to detect insertions and deletions within the entire *flhD* operon.

The PCR1 fragment (Fig. 17, Panel A) starts downstream of the published (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004; Wang and Wood, 2011) hotspot for IS1 and IS5 in the *flhD* promoter and ends at the 3'-end of the *flhC* open reading frame. This fragment is expected to be 1,199 bp in length in the absence of insertions. The PCR2 fragment (Fig. 17, Panel A) starts upstream of the hotspot. PCR2 is expected to yield a 1,343 bp fragment in the absence of IS elements. PCR1 is done with forward primer 1, and PCR2 with forward primer 2 (Table 5). Both reactions use the same reverse primer. A PCR2 fragment that is longer than 1,343 bp, together with a PCR1 fragment of 1,199 bp length, indicates an insertion between the forward primer 1 and the forward primer 2 binding sites. That could be within the published hotspot. Should both PCR fragments be longer than 1,343 bp and 1,199 bp, this would be indicative of an insertion either within the open reading frames for FlhD and FlhC or in the promoter downstream of the forward primer 1. Among the isolates that fall into this category, two isolates (JS44 and JS90) were sequenced using the forward primers 1 and 2 and the reverse primer. With the remaining isolates of this group, PCR3 was performed to test for the presence, approximate location, and orientation of IS1 elements. We used forward primer 3A and 3B together with the reverse primer to detect the two different possible orientations of the IS1. The presence of a PCR product by forward primer 3A is indicative of IS1 in forward orientation. A PCR product yielded by forward primer 3B is indicative of IS1 in reverse orientation. The length of the respective PCR fragment is indicative of the distance between binding sites for the forward and reverse primers.

Table 5: List of primers.

Primer	Sequence	Purpose					
PCR primers							
Forward 1	5'-CCCCCTCCGTTGTATGTGCG-3'	For PCR1 (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004)					
Forward 2	5'-CCTGTTTCATTTTTGCTTGCTAGC-3'	For PCR2 (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004)					
Reverse	5'-GGAATGTTGCGCCTCACCG-3'	For PCR1/2/3 (Barker, Prüß, and Matsumura, 2004)					
Forward 3A	5'-TATGAGCCT GCTGTCACCCTTTGA-3'	For PCR3: Indicative of an IS1 element in the reverse orientation					
Forward 3B	5'-TTCAGGTTATGCCGCTCAATTCGC-3'	For PCR3: Indicative of an IS1 element in the forward orientation.					
Cloning primers							
<i>flhD1</i> forward	5'-CTCGAGTGACTGTGCGCAACATCCCATT- 3'	Amplification of <i>flhD</i> from AJW678					
flhD reverse	5'-GGATCCTGCCAGCTTAACCATTTGCGGA- 3'	Amplification of <i>flhD</i> from AJW678					
<i>flhD4</i> forward	5'-AGATCTTGACTGTGCGCAACATCCCATT-3'	Amplification of <i>flhD</i> from JS58					

Cloning of *flhD1::gfp* (pPS72), *flhD4::gfp* (pPS74), pPS72 Tc^R (pPS75), pPS74 Tc^R (pPS76) and pPS72 Cm^R (pPS77) plasmids

<u>pPS72</u>: The flhD1 promoter region of AJW678 that starts 219 bp upstream of the +1 transcriptional start site and ends 502 bp downstream of the +1 was PCR-amplified from AJW678, using the flhD1 forward and flhD reverse primers (Table 5). The PCR-amplified region was first cloned into pGEM T-Easy (Promega, Madison, WI), then excised with XhoI and BamHI, and ligated into the respective sites of pUA66 (Open Biosystem, Huntsville, AL) that contains gfpmut2 as a reporter gene and a kanamycin resistance cassette. AJW678 and AJW2050 were transformed with the resulting plasmid, designated pPS72. The insert was confirmed by restriction digest and sequencing (Macrogen, Rockville MD).

<u>pPS74:</u> JS58 is one of the colonies that was recovered from 14-days-old MC1000 biofilm and contained an IS1 element in the flhD operon in addition to the IS5 that is characteristic for MC1000. The flhD4 promoter region of JS58 that starts 1,419 bp upstream of the +1 transcriptional start site and ends 1,101 bp downstream of the +1 was PCR-amplified from JS58, using flhD4 forward and flhD reverse primers. The sequence of the PCR product was confirmed (Macrogen). The PCR fragment was ligated into pGEM T-Easy, excised with Apal, blunt ended with Klenow, digested with BamHI, and ligated into pUA66 that was treated with the same restriction enzymes. AJW678 and AJW2050 were transformed with the resulting plasmid, designated pPS74.

<u>pPS75, pPS76, and pPS77:</u> pPS72 and pPS74 were digested with Eagl, blunt ended with Klenow, and treated with CIAP. This treatment removed 280 bp between the kanamycin cassette and the flhD promoter, abolishing kanamycin resistance. pHP45Ω- Tc was the source of the tetracycline resistance gene cassette (Fellay, Frey, and Krisch, 1987) and was digested with EcoRI and blunt ended with Klenow. The excised tetracycline resistance cassette was ligated into pPS72 and pPS74. The resulting plasmids are designated pPS75 and pPS76, respectively. AJW2143 was transformed with either of the two plasmids.

pPS72 was digested with Eagl, blunt ended with Klenow, and treated with CIAP. As a result, the kanamycin resistance was inactivated. The chloramphenicol resistance cassette was excised from pHP45Ω-Cm (Fellay, Frey, and Krisch, 1987) with EcoRI, blunt ended with Klenow, and ligated into pPS72. BP1290 was transformed with the resulting plasmid, designated pPS77.

Formation of biofilm in flow cells

Biofilms of six strains were formed in flow cells (Stovall, Greensboro NC) as previously described (Samanta *et al.*, 2013). The first set of three strains contained pPS72/pPS75, having the *flhD1* promoter (no IS) from AJW678 fused to *gfp*. These were BP1506 (parent), BP1507 (*ompR*), and BP1510 (*rcsB*). The second set of three strains contained pPS74/pPS76 that had the IS1/IS5-containing *flhD4* promoter from JS58 fused to *gfp*. These were BP1503 (parent), BP1504 (*ompR*), and BP1513 (*rcsB*).

Fluorescence microscopy

Gene expression was monitored as fluorescence from the *flhD*::*gfp* with an Axio Observer Z2 upright fluorescence microscope with ApoTome2 from Zeiss (Germany). For the temporal experiment, fluorescence images were taken at multiple time points until a maximum of 52 h. For the spatial experiments, *z*-stacking images were taken at

52 h. This was done separately for fluorescence and bright field. For both temporal and spatial experiments, images were taken at 1,000 X magnification using a 100 x/1.46 Oil α -Plan-apochromatic objective. All the experiments under the fluorescence microscopy were done at 90% of the available excitation light.

Quantifications of the fluorescence signals were done by using Image-Pro Plus software. Data are expressed as percent area of the image that produced a fluorescence signal. We also determined the average and the standard deviation across all 9 images (3 images per biological replicate) for each individual strain. Finally, the average percentage area was plotted against the time of the temporal experiments and the biofilm thickness of spatial experiments.

Determination of biofilm biomass by crystal violet assay

Biofilm of BP1503, BP1504, BP1513, and BP1515 were grown in individual wells of a 24-well plate in TB for 3 h, 12 h, 35 h, and 51 h at room temperature. After removing the liquid bacterial growth medium, biofilms were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Biofilms were stained with a solution of 0.1% crystal violet (CV) in H₂O as described (O'Toole *et al.*, 1999; Pratt and Kolter, 1998; Stafslien *et al.*, 2007; Stafslien *et al.*, 2006). After 10 min, CV was removed and biofilms were washed twice with PBS. A solution of 80% ethanol and 20% acetone was used to extract the CV. The OD₆₀₀ was determined from a 1:10 dilution with a Synergy H1 plate reader from BioTek (Winooski, VT). Relative biomass was determined by dividing the OD₆₀₀ data for each strain by the parental strain AJW678. Averages and standard deviations were determined across the three replicate experiments.

Acknowledgements

The AJW678 parental strains and its *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains were kindly provided by Dr. Alan J. Wolfe (Loyola University Chicago, Maywood, IL). Pawel Borowicz (Advanced Imaging and Microscopy Core Laboratory, NDSU) helped with the microscopy and imaging conducted in this study, as well as with the quantification of the fluorescence signals. The work was funded by grant 1R15Al089403 from the NIH/NIAID. The Synergy plate reader was purchased from grant 2012-67006-19659 from the USDA/NIFA.

Reference List

- Barker, C. S., Prüß, B. M., and Matsumura, P., 2004, Increased motility of Escherichia coli by insertion sequence element integration into the regulatory region of the *flhD* operon: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 186, p. 7529-7537.
- Bartlett, D. H., Frantz, B. B., and Matsumura, P., 1988, Flagellar transcriptional activators FlbB and FlaI: gene sequences and 5' consensus sequences of operons under FlbB and FlaI control: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 170, p. 1575-1581.
- Bertin, P., Terao, E., Lee, E. H., Lejeune, P., Colson, C., Danchin, A., and Collatz, E., 1994, The H-NS protein is involved in the biogenesis of flagella in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 176, p. 5537-5540.
- 4. Casadaban, M. J. and Cohen, S. N., 1980, Analysis of gene control signals by DNA fusion and cloning in *Escherichia coli*: J. Mol. Biol., v. 138, p. 179-207.

- Chen, C.-Y., Hoffman, C. S., Cottrell, B. J., Strobaugh, T. P., Paoli, G. C., Nguyen, L.-H., Yan, X., and Uhlin, B. E., 2013, Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of biofilm forming capabilities in non-O157 shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains: PLoS One, v. 8, p. e84863.
- Enos-Berlage, J. L., Guvener, Z. T., Keenan, C. E., and McCarter, L. L., 2005, Genetic determinants of biofilm development of opaque and translucent *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 55, p. 1160-1182.
- Fellay, R., Frey, J., and Krisch, H., 1987, Interposon mutagenesis of soil and water bacteria: a family of DNA fragments designed for *in vitro* insertional mutagenesis of gram-negative bacteria: Gene, v. 52, p. 147-154.
- Francez-Charlot, A., Laugel, B., Van, G. A., Dubarry, N., Wiorowski, F., Castanie-Cornet, M. P., Gutierrez, C., and Cam, K., 2003, RcsCDB His-Asp phosphorelay system negatively regulates the *flhDC* operon in *Escherichia coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 49, p. 823-832.
- Fredericks, C. E., Shibata, S., Aizawa, S. I., Reimann, S. A., and Wolfe, A. J., 2006, Acetyl phosphate-sensitive regulation of flagellar biogenesis and capsular biosynthesis depends on the Rcs phosphorelay: Mol. Microbiol., v. 61, p. 734-747.
- Gottesman, S., Trisler, P., and Torres-Cabassa, A., 1985, Regulation of capsular polysaccharide synthesis in *Escherichia coli* K-12: characterization of three regulatory genes: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 162, p. 1111-1119.
- 11. Kirov, S. M., Castrisios, M., and Shaw, J. G., 2004, *Aeromonas* flagella (polar and lateral) are enterocyte adhesins that contribute to biofilm formation on surfaces: Infection and Immunity, v. 72, p. 1939-1945.
- Kostakioti, M., Hadjifrangiskou, M., Pinkner, J. S., and Hultgren, S. J., 2009, QseC-mediated dephosphorylation of QseB is required for expression of genes associated with virulence in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: Molecular Microbiology, v. 73, p. 1020-1031.
- Kumari, S., Beatty, C. M., Browning, D. F., Busby, S. J., Simel, E. J., Hovel-Miner, G., and Wolfe, A. J., 2000, Regulation of acetyl coenzyme A synthetase in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 182, p. 4173-4179.
- 14. Kwan, B. W., Valenta, J. A., Benedik, M. J., and Wood, T. K., 2013, Arrested protein synthesis increases persister-like cell formation: Antimicrob.Agents Chemother., v. 57, p. 1468-1473.
- 15. Lee, C. and Park, C., 2013, Mutations upregulating the *flhDC* operon of *Escherichia coli* K-12: J. Microbiol., v. 51, p. 140-144.
- Lehnen, D., Blumer, C., Polen, T., Wackwitz, B., Wendisch, V. F., and Unden, G.,
 2002, LrhA as a new transcriptional key regulator of flagella, motility and chemotaxis genes in *Escherichia coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 45, p. 521-532.
- 17. Li, B., Li, N., Wang, F., Guo, L., Huang, Y., Liu, X., Wei, T., Zhu, D., Liu, C., Pan, H., Xu, S., Wang, H. W., and Gu, L., 2012, Structural insight of a concentration-

dependent mechanism by which YdiV inhibits *Escherichia coli* flagellum biogenesis and motility: Nucleic Acids Res., v. 40, p. 11073-11085.

- Liu, X. and Matsumura, P., 1994, The FlhD/FlhC complex, a transcriptional activator of the *Escherichia coli* flagellar class II operons: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 176, p. 7345-7351.
- Mizushima, T., Tomura, A., Shinpuku, T., Miki, T., and Sekimizu, K., 1994, Loss of flagellation in *dnaA* mutants of *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 176, p. 5544-5546.
- O'Toole, G. A., Pratt, L. A., Watnick, P. I., Newman, D. K., Weaver, V. B., and Kolter, R., 1999, Genetic approaches to study of biofilms: Methods Enzymol., v. 310, p. 91-109.
- Pratt, L. A. and Kolter, R., 1998, Genetic analysis of *Escherichia coli* biofilm formation: roles of flagella, motility, chemotaxis and type I pili: Mol. Microbiol., v. 30, p. 285-293.
- 22. Prigent-Combaret, C., Brombacher, E., Vidal, O., Ambert, A., Lejeune, P., Landini, P., and Dorel, C., 2001, Complex regulatory network controls initial adhesion and biofilm formation in *Escherichia coli* via regulation of the *csgD* gene: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 183, p. 7213-7223.
- 23. Prüß, B. M., Campbell, J. W., Van Dyk, T. K., Zhu, C., Kogan, Y., and Matsumura, P., 2003, FlhD/FlhC is a regulator of anaerobic respiration and the

Entner-Doudoroff pathway through induction of the methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein Aer: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 185, p. 534-543.

- Prüß, B. M., Liu, X., Hendrickson, W., and Matsumura, P., 2001, FlhD/FlhCregulated promoters analyzed by gene array and *lacZ* gene fusions: FEMS Microbiol. Lett., v. 197, p. 91-97.
- Prüß, B. M., Verma, K., Samanta, P., Sule, P., Kumar, S., Wu, J., Horne, S. M., Christianson, D. A., Stafslien, S. J., Wolfe, A. J., and Denton, A., 2010, Environmental and genetic factors that contribute to *Escherichia coli* K-12 biofilm formation: Arch. Microbiol., v. 192, p. 715-728.
- Prüß, B. M. and Wolfe, A. J., 1994, Regulation of acetyl phosphate synthesis and degradation, and the control of flagellar expression in *Escherichia coli*: Mol.Microbiol., v. 12, p. 973-984.
- 27. Saint-Ruf, C., Garfa-Traore, M., Collin, V., Cordier, C., Franceschi, C., and Matic,
 I., 2014, Massive diversification in aging colonies of Escherichia coli: The Journal of Bacteriology.
- Samanta, P., Clark, E. R., Knutson, K., Horne, S. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2013, OmpR and RcsB abolish temporal and spatial changes in expression of *flhD in Escherichia coli* Biofilm: BMC Microbiology, v. 13, p. 182.
- Sauer, K., Camper, A. K., Ehrlich, G. D., Costerton, J. W., and Davies, D. G.,
 2002, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* displays multiple phenotypes during development as a biofilm: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 184, p. 1140-1154.

- Serra, D. O., Richter, A. M., Klauch, G., Mika, F., and Hengge, R., 2013, Microanatomy at cellular resolution and spatial order of physiological differenetiation in a bacterial biofilm: MBio, v. 4, p. e00103-e00113.
- Sharma, V. K. and Bearson, B. L., 2013, Hha controls Escherichia coli O157:H7 biofilm formation by differential regulation of global transcriptional regulators FlhDC and CsgD: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 79, p. 2384-2396.
- 32. Shi, W., Zhou, Y., Wild, J., Adler, J., and Gross, C. A., 1992, DnaK, DnaJ, and GrpE are required for flagellum synthesis in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 174, p. 6256-6263.
- 33. Shin, S. and Park, C., 1995, Modulation of flagellar expression in *Escherichia coli* by acetyl phosphate and the osmoregulator OmpR: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 177, p. 4696-4702.
- Shrout, J. D., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Givskov, M., and Parsek, M. R., 2011, The contribution of cell-cell signaling and motility to bacterial biofilm formation: MRS. Bull., v. 36, p. 367-373.
- 35. Silverman, M. and Simon, M., 1973, Genetic analysis of flagellar mutants in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 113, p. 105-113.
- 36. Soutourina, O., Kolb, A., Krin, E., Laurent-Winter, C., Rimsky, S., Danchin, A., and Bertin, P., 1999, Multiple control of flagellum biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*: role of H-NS protein and the cyclic AMP-catabolite activator protein complex in

transcription of the *flhDC* master operon: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 181, p. 7500-7508.

- 37. Sperandio, V., Torres, A. G., and Kaper, J. B., 2002, Quorum sensing *Escherichia coli* regulators B and C (QseBC): a novel two-component regulatory system involved in the regulation of flagella and motility by quorum sensing in *E. coli*: Mol. Microbiol., v. 43, p. 809-821.
- Stafslien, S., Daniels, J., Chisholm, B., and Christianson, D., 2007, Combinatorial materials research applied to the development of new surface coatings III. Utilisation of a high-throughput multiwell plate screening method to rapidly assess bacterial biofilm retention on antifouling surfaces: Biofouling, v. 23, p. 37-44.
- Stafslien, S. J., Bahr, J. A., Feser, J. M., Weisz, J. C., Chisholm, B. J., Ready, T. E., and Boudjouk, P., 2006, Combinatorial materials research applied to the development of new surface coatings I: a multiwell plate screening method for the high-throughput assessment of bacterial biofilm retention on surfaces: J. Comb. Chem., v. 8, p. 156-162.
- Sule, P., Horne, S. M., Logue, C. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2011, FlhC regulates cell division, biofilm formation and virulence in *Escherichia col*i O157:H7 grown on meat: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 77, p. 3653-3662.

- Thao, S., Chen, C. S., Zhu, H., and Escalante-Semerena, J. C., 2010, N epsilonlysine acetylation of a bacterial transcription factor inhibits its DNA-binding activity: PLoS. One., v. 5, p. e15123.
- 42. Thomason, M. K., Fontaine, F., De, L. N., and Storz, G., 2012, A small RNA that regulates motility and biofilm formation in response to changes in nutrient availability in *Escherichia coli*: Mol Microbiol.
- Toutain, C. M., Caizza, N. C., Zegans, M. E., and O'Toole, G. A., 2007, Roles for flagellar stators in biofilm formation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Res. Microbiol., v. 158, p. 471-477.
- 44. Wang, X. and Wood, T. K., 2011, IS5 inserts upstream of the master motility operon *flhDC* in a quasi-Lamarckian way: ISME. J., v. 5, p. 1517-1525.
- 45. Wolfe, A. J. and Berg, H. C., 1989, Migration of bacteria in semisolid agar: Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, v. 86, p. 6973-6977.
- Wolfe, A. J., Chang, D. E., Walker, J. D., Seitz-Partridge, J. E., Vidaurri, M. D., Lange, C. F., Prüß, B. M., Henk, M. C., Larkin, J. C., and Conway, T., 2003, Evidence that acetyl phosphate functions as a global signal during biofilm development: Mol. Microbiol., v. 48, p. 977-988.

Addendum 1

Sequencing alignment result of the *flhD* promoter from pPS72

The *flhD* promoter sequences from AJW678 and cloned *flhD* promoter sequences pPS72 plasmids were compared in Figure 24. The top and bottom alignment clearly shows there is no difference between those two promoter regions. The ATG site is situated at +199 bp of +1 transcriptional start site. The alignment clearly indicates that there is no IS element present in the *flhD* promoter region.

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
pPS72 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus	TTTTTA TTTTTA TTTTTA TTTTTA	ACAGATT Acagatt Acagatt	GAAAATACACC Gaaaatacacc Gaaaatacacc	CAAAACAAAA Caaaacaaaa Caaaacaaaa	GTATGACTTI Gtatgactti Gtatgactti	ATACATITATO ATACATITATO ATACATITATO ATACATITATO	ITTAAGTAATT ITTAAGTAATT ITTAAGTAATT	GAGTGTTTT GAGTGTTTT GAGTGTTTT	GTGTGATCTG GTGTGATCTG GTGTGATCTG	ICATCACGAAT ICATCACGAAT ICATCACGAAT	TATTGA TATTGA TATTGA
	101	110	120	130	140	150	+1 160	170	180	190	200
pPS72 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus	AAATCG AAATCG AAATCG	CAGCCCC CAGCCCC CAGCCCC	CTCCGTTGTAT CTCCGTTGTAT CTCCGTTGTAT	GTGCGTGTAG GTGCGTGTAG GTGCGTGTAG	tgacgagtai Tgacgagtai Tgacgagtai	CAGTTGCGT CO Cagttgcgtco Cagttgcgtco	ATTTAGGAAA ATTTAGGAAA ATTTAGGAAA	AATCTTAGA AATCTTAGA AATCTTAGA	TAAGTGTAAA TAAGTGTAAA TAAGTGTAAA	ACCCATTTCT ACCCATTTCT ACCCATTTCT	ATTTGT ATTTGT ATTTGT
	201	210	220	230	240	250	260	270	280	290	300
pPS72 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	aaggac Aaggac Aaggac	ATATTAA Atattaa Atattaa	ACCAAAAAAGGT Accaaaaaggt Accaaaaaggt	GGTTCTGCTT GGTTCTGCTT GGTTCTGCTT	ATTGCAGCT Attgcagct Attgcagct	TATCGCAACTA Tatcgcaacta Tatcgcaacta	ITTCTAATGC1 ITTCTAATGC1 ITTCTAATGC1	AATTATTTT AATTATTTT AATTATTTT	TTACCGGGGGCT TTACCGGGGGCT TTACCGGGGGCT	TCCCGGCGAC TCCCGGCGAC TCCCGGCGAC	ATCACG Atcacg Atcacg
	301	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390	400
pPS72 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus	GGGTGC GGGTGC GGGTGC	GGTGAAA Ggtgaaa Ggtgaaa	CCGCATAAAAA CCGCATAAAAA CCGCATAAAAA	TAAAGTTGGT TAAAGTTGGT TAAAGTTGGT	TATTCTGGG TATTCTGGG TATTCTGGG	TGGGAATAATG TGGGAATAATG TGGGAATAATG	CATACCTCCC CATACCTCCC CATACCTCCC	AGTTGCTGA AGTTGCTGA AGTTGCTGA	AACACATTTA AACACATTTA AACACATTTA AACACATTTA	IGACATCAACT Igacatcaact Igacatcaact	TGTCAT TGTCAT TGTCAT
	401	410	420	430	440	450	460	469			
pPS72 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	ATTTAC ATTTAC ATTTAC	TACTTGC TACTTGC TACTTGC	ACAGCGTTTGA Acagcgtttga Acagcgtttga	TTGTTCAGGA TTGTTCAGGA TTGTTCAGGA	CAAAGCGTC(Caaagcgtc) Caaagcgtc)	CGCTATGTTTC CGCTATGTTTC CGCTATGTTTC	GTCTCGGCAT GTCTCGGCAT GTCTCGGCAT	AAATG AAATG AAATG			

Figure 24: Sequence alignment of *flhD* promoter of pPS72 and *flhD* promoter of AJW678.

The +1 transcriptional start site and the ATG start codon are indicated.

Sequencing alignment result of the flhD promoter from pPS74

The *flhD* promoter sequences from AJW678 and cloned *flhD* promoter sequences pPS74 plasmids were compared. The alignment clearly shows the difference between those two promoter regions, due to the IS5 and IS1 element in the *flhD* promoter of pPS74. The IS5 element started at -1294 bp and ended at -94 bp from the +1 transcriptional start sites. The IS1 element started at +194 bp and ended at +970 bp from the +1 transcriptional start sites.

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus		AACAGATT(AACAGATT(AACAGATT(GAAAATACACI GAAAATACACI GAAAATACACI	CCAAAACAAA CCAAAACAAA CCAAAACAAA	AGTATGACTT AGTATGACTT AGTATGACTT	ATACATTTAT ATACATTTAT ATACATTTAT	GTTTTAGTGA GTT GTT.	GATCTCTCCC	ACTGACGTAT	CATTTGGTCCG	CCCGAA	
	101	110	120	130	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	
pPS74 flhD(AJW678) Consensus	I ACAGG	ттаассаа	CGTGAATAAC	ATCGCCAGTTO	GGTTATCGTT	TTTCAGCAAC	CCCTTGTATC	TGGCTTTCAC	GAAGCCGAAC	ГАТСССТТСАТ	GATGCG	
								•••••	•••••			
	201	210	220	230	240	250	260	270	280	290	300	
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678)	АААТС	GGTGCTCC	ССТЕВСССС	GATGCTGGC	ТТТСАТĠТАТ	тсбатбттба	TGGCCGTTTT	бттсттесет	GGATGCTGTT	TCAAGGTTCTT	ACCTTG	
consensus	201	210	220	220	240	250	260	270	200	200	400	
-PC74	1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
f1hD(AJH678)												
consensus	401	410	420	430	440	450	460	470	480	490	500	
pPS74	I	+		+		+	+		+	+	1	
f1hD(AJH678) Consensus												
conconcue	501	510	520	530	540	550	560	570	580	590	600	
pPS74	I GGCCT	тсатбсса	AGTGCCACT	GATTGCCTTT	сттестстея	ТССАТСТССС	GATCGCGTTG	стастсттта	ттсттббтсб	астебатесс	TCAATG	
f1hD(AJ4678) Consensus									•••••			
	601	610	620	630	640	650	660	670	680	690	700	
рРS74 f1hD(AJH678)	АТБОТОВСКАТСАЛСОВОВОВСТВОСТВОВСКАТСАЛСКОСОВССОВССАЛСТОВСКАТСАЛСТОВОВОВСКАТСАЛСКАТСАЛСКАТА СТАСОВСКАТСАЛСКАТА С 											
	701	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780	790	800	
PPS74	CCAGC	AGGTGGCG	GAAATTCATG	атсстостос	GGTCCGGCAA	GGCGCTATCC	AGGGATAACC	GGGCAAACAG	ACGCATGGAG	GCGATTTCGTA	ICAGAGC	
f1hD(AJH678) Consensus			•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	 • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••			
	801	810	820	830	840	850	860	870	880	890	900	
pPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	АТСТТ	ссатсосо	CATCGCTCA	GTTGTACCA	атостосато	CAGTGAATGC	GTAGCATGGT	TTCCAGCGGA	TAAGGTCGCCO	GCCATTACCA	всстта	
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	901	910	920	930	940	950	960	970	980	990	1000	
	GGGTAAAACGGCTCGATGACTTCCACCATGTTTTGCCATGGCAGAATCTGCTCCATGCGGGACAAGAAAATCTCTTTTCTGGTCTGACGGCGCTTACTGC											
	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	••••••			
	1001	1010	1020	1030	1040	1050	1060	1070	1080	1090	1100	
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	TGAAT	TCACTGTC	GCGAAGGTA	AGTTGATGAC	TCATGATGAA	CCCTGTTCTA	TGGCTCCAGA	TGACAAACAT	AAGTAATTGA AAGTAATTGA AAGTAATTGA	GTGTTTTGTGT GTGTTTTGTGT GTGTTTTGTGT	GATCTG GATCTG GATCTG	

Figure 25: Sequence alignment of *flhD* promoter of pPS74 and *flhD* promoter of AJW678.

The +1 transcriptional start site and the ATG start codon are indicated. Both IS5 and IS1 elements are indicated as black sequence.

	1101	1110	1120	1130	1140	1150	1160	1170	1180	1190	1200
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678)		ACGAATTAT ACGAATTAT	TGAAAATCGC TGAAAATCGC	AGCCCCCTCC	GTTGTATGT GTTGTATGT GTTGTATGT	GCGTGTAGTGA GCGTGTAGTGA GCGTGTAGTGA	ICGAGTACAGI ICGAGTACAGI	TGCGTCGAT TGCGTCGAT	TTAGGAAAAA TTAGGAAAAA TTAGGAAAAA	ICTTAGATAA ICTTAGATAA	IGTGTAAA IGTGTAAA
consensus	1201	1210	1220	1230	1240	1250	1260	1270	1280	1290	1300
pPS74 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus	GACCC GACCC GACCC	ATTTCTATT Atttctatt Atttctatt	tgtaaggacf Tgtaaggacf Tgtaaggacf	TATTAAACCA TATTAAACCA TATTAAACCA	AAAAGGTGG AAAAGGTGG AAAAGGTGG	TTCTGCTTATI TTCTGCTTATI TTCTGCTTATI	IGCAGCTTATO IGCAGCTTATO IGCAGCTTATO	GCAACTATT GCAACTATT GCAACTATT	ICTAATGCTAA ICTAATGCTAA ICTAATGCTAA	TATTTTTA TATTTTTA TATTTTTA	ICCGGGGGC ICCGGGGGC ICCGGGGGC
	1301	1310	1320	1330	1340	1350	1360	1370	1380	1390	1400
pPS74 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus		GGCGACATC GGCGACATC GGCGACATC	ACGGGGTGCC ACGGGGTGCC ACGGGGTGCC	GTGAAACCGC GTGAAACCGC GTGAAACCGC	ATAAAAATA ATAAAAAATA ATAAAAAATA	AAGTTGGTTA1 AAGTTGGTTA1 AAGTTGGTTA1	ITCTGGGTGG ITCTGGGTGG ITCTGGGTGG	GAATAATGO	GTAATGACTC	CAACTTATTG	ATAGTGT
	1401	1410	1420	1430	1440	1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500
рРS74 £150(8 Ш678)	1 TTTAT	GTTCAGATA	ATGCCCGATO	ACTTTGTCAT	GCAGCTCCA	CCGATTTTGAC	GAACGACAGCO	ACTTCCGT	CCAGCCGTGC	CAGGTGCTGC	CTCAGAT
Consensus	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••
	1501	1510 +	1520	1530	1540	1550	1560	1570	1580	1590	1600
рРS74 f1hD(AJW678)	TCAGG	TTATGCCGC		GCGTATATCG	CTTGCTGAT		TTCCCTTCAG	GCGGGATTO	CATACAGCGGC	CAGCCATCCG	TCATCCA
Consensus	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••
	1601	1610	1620	1630	1640	1650	1660	1670	1680	1690	1700
рР574 £150(8 Ш678)	TATCA	CCACGTCAA	AGGGTGACAG	CAGGCTCATA	AGACGCCCC	AGCGTCGCCAT	FAGTGCGTTCA	CCGAATACO	TGCGCAACAA	ссатсттсса	GAGACTĠ
Consensus	•••••					• • • • • • • • • • • • •		•••••	•••••		•••••
	1701	1710	1720	1730	1740	1750	1760	1770	1780	1790	1800
рРS74 стырия шерох	тсата	CGCGTAAAA	CAGCCAGCGC	TGGCGCGATT	TAGCCCCGA	CATAGCCCCAC	CTGTTCGTCCF	ITTTCCGCG	CAGACGATGAC	GTCACTGCCC	GGCTGTA
Consensus											
	1801	1810	1820	1830	1840	1850	1860	1870	1880	1890	1900
pPS74	TGCGC	GAGGTTACC	GACTGCGGCC	TGAGTTTTT	AAGTGACGT	AAAATCGTGTT	rgaggccaacg	CCCATAAT	GGGGCTGTTG	CCCGGCATCO	AACGCCA
Consensus						• • • • • • • • • • • • •		•••••			
	1901	1910	1920	1930	1940	1950	1960	1970	1980	1990	2000
pPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	TTCAT	GGCCATATC	AATGATTTTC	TGGTGCGTAC	CGGGTTGAG	AAGCGGTGTAF	IGTGAACTGCA	GTTGCCAT	STTTTACGGCA	GTGAGAGCAG	AGATAGC
	•••••	••••••••••	•••••••••••		••••••••••	••••••••••••				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••
PPS74 f1hD(AJW678) Consensus	2001 	2010 +	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2070	2080	2090	2100
	GCTGATGTCCGGCGGTGCTTTTGCCGTTACGCACCACCCCGTCAGTAGCTGAACAGGAGGGACAGCTGATAGAAACAGAAGCCACTGGAGCACCTCAAAA										
	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••
pPS74 f1hD(AJ4678) Consensus	2101 	2110 +	2120 +	2130	2140 +	2150 +	2160 +	2170	2180 +	2190 +	2200
	ACACC	АТСАТАСАС	TAAATCAGTA	AGTTGGCAGC	atcacc <mark>gaa</mark> Gaa	TAATGCATACO TAAT <mark>GCAT</mark> ACO	CTCCGAGTTGC CTCCGAGTTGC	:TGAAACACA :TGAAACACA	ATTTATGACAT(ATTTATGACAT(CAACTTGTCA Caacttgtca	ITATTTAC ITATTTAC
	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	GAA	TAATGCATACO	CTCCGAGTTGC	TGAAACACA	ITTTATGACAT	CAACTTGTCA	TATTTAC
	2201	2210	2220	2230	2240	<u>\$250</u>	2260263				
PPS74 f1hD(AJH678) Consensus	TACTT TACTT TACTT	GCACAGCGT GCACAGCGT GCACAGCGT	TTGATTGTTC TTGATTGTTC TTGATTGTTC	:Aggacaaagc :Aggacaaagc :Aggacaaagc	GTCCGCTAT GTCCGCTAT GTCCGCTAT	GTTTCGTCTCO GTTTCGTCTCO GTTTCGTCTCO	GCATAAATG GCATAAATG GCATAAATG				

Figure 25: Sequence alignment of *flhD* promoter of pPS74 and *flhD* promoter of AJW678 (continued).

GENERAL DISCUSSION

From Specific Aim 1 of this study, we identified the flagella master regulator FlhD/FlhC as the first target for the prevention (expressed early in biofilm development) and treatment (expressed outer layer of biofilm) of biofilm-related diseases.

This research contributes to the ongoing controversy of whether flagella and motility is an advantage or disadvantage in biofilm formation. Earlier studies with various bacterial species suggested that motility has a positive influence on biofilm formation (Montie et al., 1982; de Weger et al., 1987; Grant et al., 1993; Korber, Lawrence, and Caldwell, 1994). However, these studies used genotypically uncharacterized stains as non-motile strains. Lawrence's group suggested that flagella have a direct effect on bacteria's ability to adhere to the surface (Lawrence and Neu, 1999). It has been postulated that flagella might be required for the cell to overcome the repulsive forces between the bacterium and the surface. In 1998 the O'Toole group, using an *flgK* mutant strain with incomplete flagellum synthesis, concluded that flagella are necessary for biofilm development in *P. aeruginosa* (O'Toole and Kolter, 1998). It is commonly believed that flagella contribute to reversible attachment in biofilm formation.

In contrast, several other studies indicated that motility is a disadvantage for the biofilm formation. A study showed that a mutation that inhibits gliding motility in *Flavobacterium pshychrophylum* increased biofilm formation (Alvarez et al., 2006). Similarly in *Bacillus subtilis,* the EspE operon, which is required for biofilm formation, shuts down the motility of the organism (Blair et al., 2008). Prigent-Combaret et al. showed that *E. coli* after biofilm formation down-regulates the flagellar genes and no flagella were visualized on biofilm bacteria under an electron microscope (Prigent-

Combaret et al., 1999). Our lab results from a high-throughput quantitative biofilm experiment indicated that both *fliA* and *flhD* mutants, each lacking a key regulator for flagella synthesis, resulted in a reduced biofilm formation under all growth conditions compared to parental strain (Prüß et al., 2010). Another study from our lab concluded that *flhC* negatively regulates cell division and biofilm formation of *E. coli* (Sule et al., 2011).

A temporal expression study of *flhD* in *E. coli* biofilm also provided us a clear picture about the importance of timely expression of *flhD* in biofilm formation. We postulated that timely regulation of flagella and motility is very important for biofilm formation based on the temporal gene expression pattern of *flhD*. Our data indicated that *flhD* gets expressed in the very early stage (12 h) of biofilm formation, then *flhD* expression decreases until 34 h. The gene expression pattern supports the studies which concluded that flagella contribute to reversible attachment. Our data also showed that constitutively over-expressed FlhD/FlhC from a plasmid resulted in very reduced biofilm formation relative to the WT (Samanta et al., 2013). So we hypothesized that in different scenarios *flhD* either gets constitutively over-expressed throughout biofilm formation will be hindered.

One scenario where *flhD* is repressed at all times can be created by adding β -phenylethylamine (PEA) to the growth media. As a result, PEA inhibited the first phase of biofilm development, reversible attachment. A study showed that PEA decreased *flhD* expression and biofilm amounts simultaneously (Stevenson et al., 2013). From phenotypic microarray experiments in our lab, we found that PEA and acetoacetic acid (AAA) are the two chemicals out of 95 carbon and 95 nitrogen sources tested in our lab

that can reduce biofilm formation by creating one of the above scenarios (Lynnes, Horne, and Prüß, 2013).

As a first future prospective of Specific Aim 1, we could study the effect of PEA on *flhD* expression in parental AJW678 and isogenic *ompR* and *rcsB* mutant strains, using flow cell and fluorescence microscopy. We already know that expression of *flhD* in both *ompR* and *rcsB* mutants is very high. If PEA is still able to decrease *flhD* expression in the *ompR* and/or *rcsB* mutants, this will indicate that the effect of PEA on *flhD* expression does not require OmpR and/or RcsB. If PEA is no longer able to decrease *flhD* expression, we can conclude that the effect of PEA on *flhD* expression, we can conclude that the effect of PEA on flhD expression requires OmpR and/or RcsB. This experiment could also be done with mutants in other two-component system response regulators to identify components of the signal transduction chain from PEA to biofilm amounts.

As a second future perspective of Specific Aim I, we could integrate PEA into coatings that can be used on medical devices to protect patients from biofilm-associated diseases. For that, we would test the effectiveness of PEA against various biofilm-forming bacteria of medical importance such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinetobacter baumanii, Klebsiella ornithinolytica, Lactobacillus spp.* Etc. in various liquid growth media including blood, urine, and saliva.

From Specific Aim 2 of this study, we concluded that insertion of an IS1 element at -5 bp upstream of the transcription start site of *flhD* could decrease *flhD* expression and motility in an environment where motility is a disadvantage.

One past study indicated that insertion of an IS element into critical positions on the bacteria's chromosomes can serve as an adaptive mechanism and could be an evolutionary advantage (Gaffe et al., 2011). Specific examples include IS5 insertion into a specific site of the *glpFK* promoter to reduce the inhibitory effect of GlpR (Zhang and Saier, Jr., 2011), IS1 and IS5 insertion into the *nrdAB* promoter to increase levels of ribonucleotide reductase (Feeney, Ke, and Beckwith, 2012), and insertion of IS629 into many places of the *E. coli* O157:H7 genome as a mechanism to genomically diversify this pathogen (Rump, Fischer, and Gonzalez-Escalona, 2011).

Using a stochastic population model, it was shown that *E. coli* undergoes dramatic genetic diversification when grown as a biofilm (Ponciano et al., 2009), which helps the evolution of biodiversity in biofilms. The bio-diversification in biofilms due to the increase in mutagenesis has been observed previously (Taddei et al., 1997). McDougald et al. showed that these mutagenic events permit *E. coli* biofilms to contain various micro-niches with phenotypic heterogeneity (McDougald et al., 2012). In this study, we provide one more example of IS elements creating a mutagenic event for *flhD* as an adaptive mechanism towards the evolutionary process. By inserting into the ribosome binding site of *flhD* or the open reading frame of *flhC*, IS1 elements can convert the highly motile MC1000 strain to a non-motile strain.

After reviewing the Specific Aim 2 results, we hypothesized that biofilms may need both motility and non-motility for optimal function during biofilm formation. Biofilms contain various micro-niches, and these micro-niches determine whether motility is an advantage or a disadvantage. So it is possible that for one micro-niche, motility may be a disadvantage; but at the same time for other micro-niche, motility may be very much required. To test this hypothesis, we performed a competitive experiment where biofilms were grown from a mixture of parental strain MC1000 and isogenic *flhD* mutants at a 1:1 ratio in 35 mm petri dishes over four weeks (Lynnes and Prüβ, unpublished). For the first 2-3 weeks, the biofilms contained a mixture of both strains with the *flhD* mutant being slightly more numerous than the parent most of the time. The general tendency pointed towards an increase in *flhD* mutants during week 3, reaching 100% after 4 weeks. Altogether, our preliminary data supported our hypothesis. Our result indicated that biofilms might need both parent bacteria and *flhD* mutant bacteria for optimal functionality during the first two weeks of their formation.

As a future prospective of Specific Aim 2, we propose to further study the spatial distribution of the motile and non-motile strains at various time points of biofilm formation. We would perform a competitive experiment where biofilms will be grown from a mixture of a *flhD::gfp*-containing parental strain and a *flhD::rfp*-containing isogenic *flhD* mutant at a 1:1 ratio in a flow cell. The *z*-stacking images of the biofilm will give us the ratio of motile and non-motile strains at different layers of biofilm. In this way, we can analyze the importance of the motile and non-motile strains at different strains at different time-points of biofilm formation.

Reference List

 Alvarez, B., Secades, P., Prieto, M., McBride, M. J., and Guijarro, J. A., 2006, A mutation in *Flavobacterium psychrophilum tlpB* inhibits gliding motility and induces biofilm formation: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 72, p. 4044-4053.

- Blair, K. M., Turner, L., Winkelman, J. T., Berg, H. C., and Kearns, D. B., 2008, A molecular clutch disables flagella in the *Bacillus subtilis* biofilm: Science, v. 320, p. 1636-1638.
- de Weger, L. A., Vandervlugt, C. I. M., Wijfjes, A. H. M., Bakker, P. A. H. M., Schippers, B., and Lugtenberg, B., 1987, Flagella of A Plant-Growth-Stimulating *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Strain Are Required for Colonization of Potato Roots: Journal of Bacteriology, v. 169, p. 2769-2773.
- Feeney, M. A., Ke, N., and Beckwith, J., 2012, Mutations at several loci cause increased expression of ribonucleotide reductase in Escherichia coli: The Journal of Bacteriology.
- Gaffe, J., McKenzie, C., Maharjan, R. P., Coursange, E., Ferenci, T., and Schneider, D., 2011, Insertion sequence-driven evolution of *Escherichia coli* in chemostats: J. Mol. Evol., v. 72, p. 398-412.
- Grant, C. C. R., Konkel, M. E., Cieplak, W., and Tompkins, L. S., 1993, Role of flagella in adherence, internalization, and translocation of *Campylobacter jejuni* in nonpolarized and polarized epithelial-cell cultures: Infection and Immunity, v. 61, p. 1764-1771.
- Korber, D. R., Lawrence, J. R., and Caldwell, D. E., 1994, Effect of motility on surface colonization and reproductive success of Pseudomonas fluorescens in dual-dilution continuous-culture and batch culture systems: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 60, p. 1421-1429.

- 8. Lawrence, J. R. and Neu, T. R., 1999, Confocal laser scanning microscopy for analysis of microbial biofilms: Methods Enzymol., v. 310, p. 131-144.
- Lynnes, T., Horne, S. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2013, ß-phenylethylamine as a novel nutrient treatment to reduce bacterial contamination due to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on beef meat: Meat Sci., v. 96, p. 165-171.
- McDougald, D., Rice, S. A., Barraud, N., Steinberg, P. D., and Kjelleberg, S.,
 2012, Should we stay or should we go: mechanisms and ecological consequences for biofilm dispersal: Nat. Rev. Microbiol., v. 10, p. 39-50.
- Montie, T. C., Doylehuntzinger, D., Craven, R. C., and Holder, I. A., 1982, Loss of Virulence Associated with Absence of Flagellum in An Isogenic Mutant of Pseudomonas-Aeruginosa in the Burned-Mouse Model: Infection and Immunity, v. 38, p. 1296-1298.
- O'Toole, G. A. and Kolter, R., 1998, Initiation of biofilm formation in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* WCS365 proceeds via multiple, convergent signalling pathways: a genetic analysis: Mol. Microbiol., v. 28, p. 449-461.
- Ponciano, J. M., La, H. J., Joyce, P., and Forney, L. J., 2009, Evolution of diversity in spatially structured *Escherichia coli* populations: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 75, p. 6047-6054.
- Prigent-Combaret, C., Vidal, O., Dorel, C., and Lejeune, P., 1999, Abiotic surface sensing and biofilm-dependent regulation of gene expression in *Escherichia coli*: The Journal of Bacteriology, v. 181, p. 5993-6002.

- Prüß, B. M., Verma, K., Samanta, P., Sule, P., Kumar, S., Wu, J., Horne, S. M., Christianson, D. A., Stafslien, S. J., Wolfe, A. J., and Denton, A., 2010, Environmental and genetic factors that contribute to *Escherichia coli* K-12 biofilm formation: Arch. Microbiol., v. 192, p. 715-728.
- Rump, L. V., Fischer, M., and Gonzalez-Escalona, N., 2011, Prevalence, distribution and evolutionary significance of the IS629 insertion element in the stepwise emergence of Escherichia coli O157:H7: BMC Microbiol., v. 11, p. 133.
- Samanta, P., Clark, E. R., Knutson, K., Horne, S. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2013, OmpR and RcsB abolish temporal and spatial changes in expression of *flhD in Escherichia coli* Biofilm: BMC Microbiology, v. 13, p. 182.
- Stevenson, L. G., Szostek, B. A., Clemmer, K. M., and Rather, P. N., 2013, Expression of the DisA amino acid decarboxylase from *Proteus mirabilis* inhibits motility and class 2 flagellar gene expression in *Escherichia coli*: Res. Microbiol., v. 164, p. 31-37.
- Sule, P., Horne, S. M., Logue, C. M., and Prüß, B. M., 2011, FlhC regulates cell division, biofilm formation and virulence in *Escherichia col*i O157:H7 grown on meat: Applied and Environmental Microbiology, v. 77, p. 3653-3662.
- Taddei, F., Halliday, J. A., Matic, I., and Radman, M., 1997, Genetic analysis of mutagenesis in aging *Escherichia coli* colonies: Molecular & General Genetics, v. 256, p. 277-281.

 Zhang, Z. and Saier, M. H., Jr., 2011, Transposon-mediated adaptive and directed mutations and their potential evolutionary benefits: J. Mol Microbiol. Biotechnol., v. 21, p. 59-70.